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1
2

INVESTMENTS, LLC, OCC LEGACY
INVESTMENTS, LLC,
Plaintiffs,

3
v.

4
5
6
7
8

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP, a Delaware
limited liability partnership, and
DELOITTE TAX, LLP, a Delaware limited
liability partnership, and OPUS FUND
SERVICES (USA) LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company, and DOES 1
through 50,

9

Defendants.

10
11

Plaintiffs hereby bring this Complaint against Defendants Deloitte & Touche LLP

12

(“Deloitte”), Deloitte Tax, LLP (“Deloitte Tax”), and Opus Fund Services (USA) LLC (“Opus”)

13

(collectively, “Defendants”), alleging as follows:

14
1.

INTRODUCTION
This action asserts negligent and intentional misrepresentation claims against

15
16

Defendants for failing to detect one of the larger financial frauds in recent history—the collapse

17

of a $789 million private investment fund structure managed by Direct Lending Investments,

18

LLC (“DLI”). For years, DLI boasted an impressive track record that the Defendants

19

“independently” corroborated year after year. Those impressive returns, however, were based on

20

inflated returns and fake financial reporting

21

2.

Plaintiffs collectively invested over $19,480,000 in Direct Lending Income Fund,

22
23
24

L.P. (“DLIF”), a DLI feeder fund formed by Brendan Ross (“Ross”) to invest primarily in online
lending marketplaces. 1 Both before and throughout their investments, Plaintiffs’ registered

25
26
27
28

1

When used herein, the term “Funds” refers to the private investment funds managed by DLI,
discussed infra: DLIF, Direct Lending Income Feeder Fund, Ltd. (“DLIFF”), and DLI Capital,
Inc. (“DLI Capital”) and its subsidiaries, DLI Capital Partner, Inc.(“DLI CP”), DLI Assets, LLC
(“DLI Assets”), and DLI Assets Bravo, LLC (“DLI Bravo”).
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1

investment advisor (the “RIA”) performed comprehensive due diligence to validate the Funds’

2

purported years of unbroken returns. It analyzed the Funds’ audited financial statements and

3

audit reports to ensure those financial statements were free of any material misstatements, and

4
reviewed net asset value (“NAV”) statements to verify the value of Plaintiffs’ investments in
5
6
7
8
9
10
11

DLIF. The RIA also communicated directly with the Funds’ administrator to confirm that a
disinterested third party was independently verifying DLI’s asset valuations on a monthly basis.
3.

What Plaintiffs and their RIA did not know—and could not have known through

the exercise of any amount of due diligence—was that there were significant problems with the
valuation of the Funds’ two largest loan platforms, QuarterSpot, Inc. (“QuarterSpot”) and VoIP
Guardian Partners I, LLC (“VoIP Guardian”). And, that to conceal those problems, Ross had

12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19

engineered false payments on bad loans in order to prop up returns and overcharge investors on
fees. The Funds are now being liquidated by a court-appointed receiver (the “Receiver”) who has
reported that upwards of 70% of the capital invested has been lost.
4.

Deloitte was engaged by DLI to audit the Funds’ financial statements and

accompanying footnotes in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles and
auditing standards (“GAAP” and “GAAS,” respectively) for the years ending December 31, 2016,
2017, and 2018. For 2016 and 2017, Deloitte issued “clean,” unqualified audit reports (the

20
21

“Audit Reports”) that negligently ratified and confirmed the false valuations contained in the

22

financial statements and footnotes disseminated to Plaintiffs. Indeed, Deloitte failed to obtain

23

sufficient audit evidence to support its opinions and thus failed to disclose that the Funds’

24

financial statements, which it certified as accurate, fraudulently and dramatically overstated DLI’s

25

assets, net worth, and earnings, and concealed highly material related party transactions. For

26

example, in its 2017 Audit Report, Deloitte failed to disclose a $55 million related party

27
28
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1

transaction involving the sale of QuarterSpot assets at par to DL Global Ltd. (“DL Global”), an

2

investment vehicle run by one of Ross’s business associates.

3

5.

Upon information and belief, Deloitte also was engaged to provide advisory and

4
support services to DLI, which included developing critical valuation policies and procedures that
5
6

impacted the Funds’ NAV and financial statements. Indeed, investor updates sent directly to

7

Plaintiffs indicated that Deloitte had been providing these services based on its experience

8

auditing similar lending vehicles like DLI and prestige as one of the “Big Four” accounting firms.

9
10
11

6.

Deloitte Tax issued K-1s to Plaintiffs for the years ending December 31, 2016 and

2017, which purported to show each Plaintiff’s pro rata share of DLIF’s income and expenses and
their individual capital account balances determined in accordance with GAAP. The K-1s,

12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19

however, incorporated the inflated numbers from Deloitte’s year-end audits and, therefore,
misrepresented each Plaintiff’s capital account balance, as well as their proportionate share of
DLIF’s net income and expenses for the year.
7.

The Funds’ independent administrator, Opus, prepared and sent materially false

monthly capital account statements (“Capital Account Statements”) and NAV reports directly to
Plaintiffs for years. Instead of conducting an independent verification of the Funds’ asset
portfolios, as it was obligated to do, Opus simply used DLI’s fraudulent information to prepare

20
21

the Capital Account Statements and NAV reports. Opus did this despite having specifically

22

represented to Plaintiffs’ RIA that it would verify independently DLI’s asset valuations based on

23

information it obtained directly from DLI counterparties. These NAV reports and Capital

24

Account Statements were prepared and distributed on Opus letterhead and were sent directly to

25

each Plaintiff through the online investor portal that Opus maintained.

26

8.

Instead of rooting out and acting on the red flags they observed, Defendants

27
confirmed the veracity of the Funds’ financial statements and issued K-1s, audit reports, NAV
28
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1

statements, and capital account statements that misrepresented the Funds’ financial condition and

2

corroborated DLI’s misstatements year after year. The overstated values contained in these

3

documents obfuscated the fact that the Funds had inadequate liquidity to meet investor

4
redemptions and distributions.
5
6

9.

Defendants moreover knew these documents were intended to, and would be,

7

disseminated to and relied upon by Plaintiffs. For its part, Deloitte Tax knew that each individual

8

Plaintiff would rely on the K-1s for the purpose of making investment decisions and paying

9

income taxes. Indeed, the K-1s were addressed to each “Limited Partner” and identified taxable

10
11

income associated with each Plaintiff’s individual capital account. Similarly, Deloitte knew that
the Funds’ Audit Reports and financial statements would be sent to Plaintiffs, and that Plaintiffs

12
13
14

would rely on them in making investment decisions, because DLIF’s private placement
memorandum (“PPM”) and investor communications expressly stated that those documents

15

would be provided to Plaintiffs. And, Opus knew that Plaintiffs would receive and rely on its

16

NAV reports and Capital Account Statements because Opus provided those statements directly to

17

Plaintiffs through the investor portal it was responsible for managing and told Plaintiffs’ RIA that

18
19

it would independently verify DLI’s NAV valuations.
10.

Defendants carelessness, inexcusable omissions, neglect, and material

20
21

misrepresentations give rise to Plaintiffs’ claims for: negligent misrepresentation against Deloitte

22

and Deloitte Tax (First Cause of Action) and Opus (Second Cause of Action); and intentional

23

misrepresentation against Opus (Third Cause of Action).

24
25
26
27

JURISDICTION
11.

Many, if not all, of the acts and transactions complained of occurred in Los

Angeles County, California. The principal executive offices of DLI are located in Los Angeles
County and Defendants are either registered to do business in California or conducted substantial

28
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1

business in this County in connection with their work for the Funds. Upon information and

2

belief, Defendants also performed work for the Funds out of their respective California offices

3

and DLI’s office in Glendale. As a result, Defendants are subject to the jurisdiction of this Court

4

by virtue of their business dealings and transactions in California, by having caused injuries

5

within the County of Los Angeles, and by their violations of California law.

6

12.

This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over all causes of action asserted herein

7

pursuant to the California Constitution, Article VI, Section 10 because Plaintiffs’ claims arise

8

under the laws of the State of California.

9

13.

Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to sections 395(a) and 395.5 of the Code of

10

Civil Procedure because the acts giving rise to this action occurred primarily and substantially in

11

Los Angeles County.

12
13

14.

The amount in controversy is in excess of the jurisdictional limitations and is

otherwise subject to the jurisdiction of this Court.

14

PARTIES

15

Plaintiffs

16

15.

17
18
19
20

Plaintiff Alfred Jackson (“A. Jackson”) is an individual who resides in New York,

NY. A. Jackson purchased securities from DLIF in the total principal amount of $1,400,000.
16.

Plaintiff Michael Jackson (“M. Jackson”) is an individual who resides in Charlotte,

NC. M. Jackson purchased securities from DLIF in the total principal amount of $250,000.
17.

Plaintiff Granger Construction Company (“Granger”) is a Michigan Corporation

21

with its principal place of business in Lansing, MI. Granger purchased securities from DLIF in

22

the total principal amount of $1,250,000.

23

18.

Plaintiff Wiener Acquisition Company, LLC (“Wiener”) is a New York limited

24

liability company with its principal place of business in Harrison, NY. Wiener purchased

25

securities from DLIF in the total principal amount of $1,500,000.

26

19.

Plaintiff Maxx Venture Fund H, LLC (“Maxx Venture”) is a Delaware limited

27

liability company with its principal place of business in Harrison, NY. Maxx Venture purchased

28

securities from DLIF in the total principal amount of $1,325,000.
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1

20.

Plaintiff OGIE, LLC (“OGIE”) is a Delaware limited liability company with its

2

principal place of business in Harrison, NY. OGIE purchased securities from DLIF in the total

3

principal amount of $1,605,000.

4

21.

Plaintiff The Steven C. Calicchio Foundation (“The Calicchio Foundation”) is a

5

New York foundation with its principal place of business in New York, NY. The Calicchio

6

Foundation purchased securities from DLIF in the total principal amount of $2,370,000.

7

22.

Plaintiff Charitable Lead Annuity Trust “A” U/W of Steven Calicchio (“CLAT

8

A”) is a trust with its principal place of business in New York, NY. CLAT A purchased

9

securities from DLIF in the total principal amount of $1,220,000.

10

23.

Plaintiff Charitable Lead Annuity Trust “B” U/W of Steven Calicchio (“CLAT B”)

11

is a trust with its principal place of business in New York, NY. CLAT B purchased securities

12

from DLIF in the total principal amount of $3,550,000.

13

24.

Plaintiff Exempt Trust U/W of Steven Calicchio FBO Axel Calicchio (“Exempt

14

Trust Axel”) is a trust with its principal place of business in New York, NY. Exempt Trust Axel

15

purchased securities from DLIF in the total principal amount of $240,000.

16

25.

Plaintiff Exempt Trust U/W of Steven Calicchio FBO Oriana Calicchio (“Exempt

17

Trust Oriana”) is a trust with its principal place of business in New York, NY. Exempt Trust

18

Oriana purchased securities from DLIF in the total principal amount of $240,000.

19

26.

Plaintiff AJC Legacy Investments, LLC (“AJC”) is a Delaware limited liability

20

company with its principal place of business in New York, NY. AJC purchased securities from

21

DLIF in the total principal amount of $250,000.

22

27.

Plaintiff OCC Legacy Investments, LLC (“OCC”) is a Delaware limited liability

23

company with its principal place of business in New York, NY. OCC purchased securities from

24

DLIF in the total principal amount of $250,000.

25

28.

Plaintiff Millicent Calicchio (“Calicchio”) is an individual who resides in New

26

New York, NY. Calicchio purchased securities from DLIF in the total principal amount of

27

$2,500,000.

28
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1
2
3

29.

Plaintiff Valerie Sabet (“Sabet”) is a British citizen who resides in New York, NY.

Sabet purchased securities from DLIF in the total principal amount of $1,500,000.
30.

Siridean Advisors LLC is Plaintiffs’ RIA based in New York, NY. At all relevant

4

times, the RIA acted as Plaintiffs’ financial advisor and agent in connection with their

5

investments in DLI. The RIA managed the due diligence process for Plaintiffs’ investments in

6

DLIF, performed ongoing due diligence, provided Plaintiffs with information on all aspects of

7

DLI’s business, operations, and financial condition, and received both written and oral

8

communications from Defendants in connection with Plaintiffs’ investments in the Fund.

9

31.

Plaintiffs bring these claims in their respective individual capacities as limited

10

partners in DLIF. As described below, each Plaintiff was induced by Defendants’

11

misrepresentations to invest, make additional investments, and/or to hold his or her investments in

12

DLIF to the exclusion of other investment opportunities. More specifically, each Plaintiff

13

invested at different times in different amounts in reliance on the representations that each

14

Defendant made to Plaintiffs’ RIA. Each Plaintiff’s damages are unique and cannot be

15

determined on a pro-rata basis with other limited partners in DLIF since each Plaintiff paid

16

different amounts for management and incentive fees over the course of their investment.

17

32.

Moreover, separate and apart from their out of pocket losses, each Plaintiff has

18

sustained damages related to the payment of taxes on illusory income. Because DLIF is a “pass

19

through” entity with no independently taxable income, the profits and losses of the Fund are

20

allocated to the limited partners in accordance with each limited partner’s distributive share.

21

Each individual limited partner pays taxes on the profits allocated to his or her capital account

22

and may offset other taxable income with losses allocated to such capital account. The Fund does

23

not pay taxes on profits nor offset against losses allocated to the capital accounts. As such, DLI

24

would have no standing to recover such damages, which are unique to each Plaintiff.

25

Defendants

26

33.

Deloitte & Touche LLP and Deloitte Tax, LLP are Delaware limited liability

27

partnerships with a principal place of business at 30 Rockefeller Plaza, New York, NY. Upon

28

information and belief, Deloitte and Deloitte Tax also have twelve (12) offices throughout
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1

California. Deloitte is the accounting arm of Deloitte, LLP, the United States affiliate of the “Big

2

Four” international accounting firm Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited which, upon information

3

and belief, reported an aggregate member firm revenue of $43.2 billion for the fiscal year ending

4

May 2018. As part of its business, Deloitte provides clients with advisory services, audits and

5

financial statement reviews. Deloitte served as the Funds’ independent outside auditor and

6

provided advisory services for the calendar years ending December 31, 2016, 2017, and 2018.

7

Deloitte Tax prepared individual K-1s that identified taxable income associated with each

8

Plaintiff’s investments in DLIF for the calendar years ending December 31, 2016 and 2017.

9

34.

Opus Fund Services LLC is a Delaware limited liability company with a principal

10

place of business in Bermuda, and an office in Brentwood, California. Opus is a full-service,

11

domestic, and international fund administrator. Opus served as DLI’s independent administrator

12

from early 2012 through September 26, 2019.

13

35.

Plaintiffs are ignorant of the true names and capacities of defendants sued herein

14

as DOES 1-50, inclusive, and therefore sue these defendants by such fictitious names. Plaintiffs

15

will amend this Complaint to include DOE defendants’ true names and capacities when the

16

identities of these defendants have been ascertained. Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and on

17

that basis allege, that each of these fictitiously named defendants is in some way responsible for

18

each of the occurrences as herein alleged and that Plaintiffs’ damages as herein alleged were

19

proximately caused by the conduct of each said fictitiously named defendants.

20

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

21

The DLI Fund Structure

22

36.

Ross formed DLI in 2012 to invest in online lending marketplaces and to manage

23

several private funds organized in a “master-feeder” construct. In a “master-feeder” construct,

24

limited partners, like Plaintiffs, make direct investments in distinct limited liability partnerships

25

(i.e., “feeder” funds) which, in turn, make investments in a “master” limited partnership that

26

houses most of the fund’s assets.

27
28
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1

37.

DLI was the general partner and investment manager of two “feeder” funds: (i)

2

DLIF, a limited partnership organized under the laws of Delaware, and (ii) DLIFF, a Cayman

3

Islands exempted company.

4

38.

DLIF and DLIFF funneled investor funds to DLI, which then provided the funds to

5

DLI-related entities, including DLI Capital. DLI Capital is the “master” fund through which the

6

funds obtained by DLIF and DLIFF were invested, with DLI Capital in turn investing through

7

DLI Assets Bravo and DLI Assets.

8
9
10

39.

DLI categorized the Funds’ assets within a “fair value hierarchy” as Level 1, Level

2, or Level 3 assets depending on the data used to measure the fair value of the asset.
40.

Level 1 assets are those whose inputs can be verified through comparison to

11

identical assets in the active market. Level 1 assets include, for example, stocks and bonds that

12

have a mark to market mechanism for determining their value.

13

41.

Level 2 assets are those whose value can be approximated using models or

14

extrapolation methods from known, observable price market values or other data. Level 2 assets

15

include, for example, corporate bonds and mortgage-backed securities.

16

42.

Level 3 assets are those whose value cannot be determined through analysis of

17

observable inputs such as market prices or models. Rather, the value of Level 3 assets must be

18

determined through the best available information and may require some measure of estimation or

19

risk-adjusted valuation.

20

43.

DLI grew its asset and investor base by advertising its purported impressive

21

returns and use of “world class vendors.” Indeed, DLIF’s PPM and related marketing materials

22

touted DLI’s annual ten to twelve percent (10-12%) returns (which were verified by Deloitte and

23

Opus) and thirty-five (35) day liquidity period.

24

44.

DLI charged investors both a management and performance fee based on DLI’s

25

assets. The management fee was calculated as one percent (1%) of DLI Capital’s gross asset

26

amount as of the beginning of each month, including all side pocket investments. The

27

performance fee was incurred when DLI Capital’s NAV exceeded its prior high NAV and was

28

calculated as twenty percent (20%) of these earnings before interest and taxes.
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1

The Funds’ Operations and Loan Portfolios

2

45.

Since inception, the Funds principally invested in short-term loans, lines of credit,

3

purchased receivables, and other debt obligations issued by, or originated through, online lending

4

platforms (“Notes”).

5

46.

Specifically, DLIF purchased Notes directly from online business and retail

6

lenders with whom it had negotiated long term loan acquisition and servicing relationships and

7

held the Notes to maturity, with the goal of delivering to investors a stable stream of investment

8

returns derived from interest income. DLIF also financed non-bank lenders directly and provided

9

revolving loan facilities to special purpose entities (“SPEs”) that own a portfolio of Notes

10

originated by multiple third-party loan originators (the “Counterparties” or “Platforms”) which

11

sponsored the SPE.

12

47.

The Funds’ investments in Notes were categorized as Level 3 investments.

13

48.

While DLI’s loan portfolio consisted of investments with various Counterparties

14

(e.g., borrowers), its two largest investments were QuarterSpot and VoIP Guardian, both of which

15

were chronically overvalued.

16

DLI’s QuarterSpot Loan Portfolio

17

49.

18
19

QuarterSpot is an online small business and retail lender and was one of DLI’s

longest-standing investments.
50.

Beginning in August 2013, DLI agreed to purchase from QuarterSpot unsecured

20

payment-dependent promissory notes. Under the terms of this agreement, QuarterSpot continued

21

to service the loans in exchange for a fee that was later memorialized in several internal and

22

audit-related documents at 17.5% of interest collected.

23
24
25

51.

Between August 2013 and June 2017, DLI’s QuarterSpot position (loan principal

plus cash value) grew dramatically from $427,333 to $149,608,733.
52.

As part of DLI’s monthly reporting and closing process, QuarterSpot was required

26

to provide DLI with loan-level data, including performance and payment figures for each

27

individual loan.

28
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1

53.

DLI then used this loan-level information to determine how the QuarterSpot loans

2

were performing, and to create a monthly closing report and valuation for DLI’s QuarterSpot

3

portfolio.

4

54.

The monthly fair values of QuarterSpot, together with each of the Fund’s other

5

investments, were used to determine the aggregate fair value of the Fund’s portfolio and, in turn,

6

DLI Capital’s value.

7

55.

In or around July 2017, DLI sent an Investor Update stating that DLI had

8

segregated the QuarterSpot portfolio into a temporary “side pocket” account after QuarterSpot

9

refused to enter into a credit facility agreement.

10

56.

Traditionally, a side pocket is used for non-performing assets that have limited

11

liquidity. According to DLI, the QuarterSpot portfolio was placed in a temporary side pocket so

12

an outside valuation firm, Acuitas, Inc., could price all of the QuarterSpot loans.

13

57.

In late September 2017, DLI entered into a related party transaction to sell

14

approximately $55 million of the QuarterSpot assets at par value to DL Global, a foreign

15

investment vehicle run by one of Ross’s business associates.

16

58.

Despite this sale, DLIF maintained a portion of its position in QuarterSpot.

17

59.

On March 19, 2019, DLI announced to Fund investors for the first time, that

18

QuarterSpot’s value may have been materially overstated for years. Thereafter, Ross formally

19

resigned all positions at DLI on March 18, 2019 and ceded control to the Fund’s management

20

committee.

21

DLI’s VoIP Guardian Loan Portfolio

22

60.

Since 2015, DLI similarly provided a revolving loan facility to VoIP Guardian, an

23

SPE. VoIP Guardian was in the business of financing short-term commercial receivables from

24

telecommunications providers. Once financed, the telecom receivables became payable directly

25

to VoIP Guardian and those expected payments served as the collateral against which DLI lent

26

money to VoIP Guardian.

27
28

61.

In just two years, the amount that DLI extended to VoIP Guardian under the loan

facility ballooned from $32.83 million in 2015 to $180,396,984 as of December 31, 2017.
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1

62.

From 2015 until November 2018, VoIP Guardian made regular interest payments

2

due on the loans. Beginning in December 2018, however, VoIP Guardian missed a portion of its

3

interest payment, claiming that it had not received timely payments totaling $18 million from its

4

own obligors. By this time, however, approximately twenty five percent (25%) of the Fund’s

5

capital was invested in VoIP Guardian.

6

63.

Throughout January 2019, VoIP Guardian repeatedly reassured the Fund that the

7

payments would be forthcoming. Given VoIP Guardian’s payment history, DLI reported to

8

investors that it had credited those reassurances.

9

64.

But by February 2019, DLI announced that it had suspended redemptions because

10

VoIP Guardian had ceased making payments on the $192 million revolving loan facility. DLI

11

further stated that it suspected that the cessation of payments was likely the result of misconduct

12

(although it had not yet determined by whom) and that a substantial portion of the loan may not

13

be recoverable.

14

65.

On March 2019, VoIP Guardian filed a voluntary Chapter 7 petition for liquidation

15

in the Central District of California. See Petition of VOIP Guardian Partners I, LLC, Slip no. 19-

16

bk-12607-BR (C.D. Cal. March 11, 2019).

17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27

66.

As of August 16, 2019, the total amount of credit that DLI extended to VoIP

Guardian was $203,459,871.69.
Early Problems with DLI’s Loan
Portfolios and the SEC Examination
67.

As early as 2014, Ross was aware of problems with the quality of DLI’s

QuarterSpot loan portfolio.
68.

Beginning in or around the first quarter of 2015, the SEC conducted an

examination of DLI’s compliance and business practices that lasted through July, 2018.
69.

After concluding its examination, the SEC issued DLI a deficiency letter on or

about July 25, 2018 (the “Deficiency Letter”).
70.

Deficiency letters are generally intended to highlight flaws in an advisor’s

regulatory compliance controls or business practices and to identify areas for improvement.

28
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1

71.

Upon information and belief, the Deficiency Letter outlined specific concerns

2

related to DLI’s compliance and business practices, including Ross’s communications and

3

dealings with DLI Counterparties.

4

72.

Upon information and belief, Deloitte, Deloitte Tax, and Opus were aware of the

5

concerns raised by the SEC during what appears to be an atypically long examination (lasting

6

over three years), received copies of the Deficiency Letter, and assisted DLI in responding to the

7

compliance gaps identified by the SEC.

8

DLI’s Collapse and the Appointment of a Receiver

9

73.

On March 22, 2019, the SEC filed a Complaint charging DLI with a multi-year

10

fraud that resulted in approximately $11 million in over-charged management and performance

11

fees, as well as inflated returns (the “Complaint”).

12

74.

According to the SEC, Ross actively took steps to conceal problems with the

13

quality of DLI’s QuarterSpot loan portfolio by: encouraging QuarterSpot principals to manipulate

14

the loan-level information that it reported to DLI, directing QuarterSpot to delay recognizing

15

delinquent loans, and falsifying borrower payment information to make it appear as though

16

payments had been made by borrowers, when they had not.

17
18
19

75.

More specifically, Ross emailed QuarterSpot principals spreadsheets containing

falsified payment figures at the beginning of each month.
76.

The SEC estimates that the total value of the falsified payment figures in a given

20

month ranged from just under $20,000 to just under $100,000, and that the falsification of

21

borrower payment information led DLI to value many of the nonperforming QuarterSpot loans at

22

par when the values should have been reduced to zero.

23

77.

On April 1, 2019, a Receiver was appointed to oversee the DLI Funds.

24

78.

To date, the Receiver has taken custody of all assets and records and is currently

25
26

seeking to maximize value for investors, creditors, and interested third parties.
79.

As for VoIP Guardian, the Receiver has explained that, while the loan to VoIP

27

Guardian has a par value on the Receiver’s books of over $190 million, “there are substantial

28

questions and concerns regarding collection of the underlying telecommunications accounts
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1

receivable, not the least of which is the bankruptcy filing and that approximately $22 million

2

dollars in funds are being held in The Netherlands as a result of a government seizure related to a

3

criminal investigation of Rodney Omanoff [VoIP’s President] and others for money laundering

4

and other criminal claims.”

5

80.

The Receiver also has liquidated numerous other DLI assets at a fraction of their

6

reported value, demonstrating that Ross’s fraud was not limited to overvaluing DLI’s positions in

7

QuarterSpot and VoIP Guardian.

8
9

81.

Based on the Funds’ financial statements, it is now clear that that DLI was using

new investor contributions to pay redemptions. Indeed, for the year ending December 21, 2017,

10

DLIF received $217,272,857 in capital contributions and paid $351,209,655 in withdrawals.

11

And, between January 1, 2018 and April 27, 2018 alone, DLIF received $71,200,000 million in

12

capital contributions and paid $108,700,000 million in withdrawals. Thus, in only sixteen months

13

DLIF’s limited partner withdrawals eclipsed capital contributions received by $171,436,798.

14

82.

It was not until the commencement of the SEC action in March 2019 that Plaintiffs

15

learned that: DLI’s NAV had been overstated; the Funds’ financial statements and Audit Reports

16

contained material misstatements and failed to disclose related party transactions; and Plaintiffs’

17

Capital Account Statements and K-1s were inaccurate.

18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

Opus’s Misrepresentations Concerning the Fund’s NAV
and its Responsibilities as the “Independent “Administrator
83.

Opus served as DLI’s purported independent administrator from early 2012

through September 2019. On or about August 19, 2015, prior to Plaintiffs’ initial investment in
DLIF, the RIA received communications from Rocco DiBenedetto (“DiBenedetto”) and Stephen
Giannone (“Giannone”) at Opus as part of its due diligence investigation. According to
DiBenedetto and other materials provided by Opus, Opus was responsible for performing
extensive day-to-day administrative services for DLI including, but not limited to: preparing and
distributing monthly reports and communications from Ross (generally referred to as “Investor
Updates”) directly to investors; maintaining the Fund’s financial books and records; accepting
and processing redemptions; and maintaining the investor due diligence portal (the “Investor
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1

Portal”). The Investor Portal provided investors with access to detailed information concerning

2

DLI’s asset portfolio and its specific Counterparties, including the valuation of its various

3

Counterparty positions by unpaid principal balance and profit and loss information for those

4

Counterparty positions.

5

84.

Additionally, and of particular significance to Plaintiffs, DiBenedetto represented

6

that Opus was responsible for (i) preparing and distributing to each limited partner a monthly

7

account statement (“Capital Statements”) and (ii) calculating and reporting the Fund’s NAV at the

8

end of each month based on the information and performance data that it received directly from

9

Fund Counterparties—as opposed to calculating the NAV based on information and performance

10
11
12

data provided by DLI.
85.

Plaintiffs’ relied on Opus’ representations to the RIA concerning its independent

verifications and oversight in deciding to make their initial investments in DLIF.

13

Plaintiffs’ Capital Account Statements

14

86.

As represented to Plaintiffs’ RIA, Opus sent each Plaintiff a personalized monthly

15

Capital Statement that was entitled “Statement of Changes in Capital” and emblazoned with the

16

Opus Fund Services trade name and logo.

17

87.

The Capital Statements conveyed “Current Period,” “Year to Date,” and

18

“Inception to Date” information to investors on a month-to-month basis for each limited partner’s

19

capital account and included each limited partner’s: (i) “Beginning Balance;” (ii) capital activity,

20

including “Subscriptions,” “Redemptions,” “Net Profit/Loss,” and “Distributions;” (iii) the

21

“Ending Balance;” and (iv) the “Net Return.”

22

88.

Opus sent these Capital Statements directly to each Plaintiff through the Investor

23

Portal. As a result, Opus knew that Plaintiffs would use their individualized Capital Statements to

24

verify the “value” of their investment, to verify DLI’s performance, and to make investment

25

decisions regarding DLIF.

26

The Monthly NAV Statements

27

89.

28

Opus also provided independent monthly NAV calculations directly to Plaintiffs

through the Investor Portal.
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1

90.

The NAV was critical to Plaintiffs’ decisions to make their initial investments,

2

invest additional amounts, and to hold their investments over time. Indeed, the prices paid by

3

Plaintiffs for their limited partnership interests were based directly on DLI Capital’s reported

4

NAV. By tracking changes in the NAV after they purchased their interests, Plaintiffs could

5

evaluate whether the Fund’s investments were successful. If the reported NAV had declined over

6

time, or if it was disclosed that NAV was being calculated in an improper fashion, Plaintiffs

7

would have sold their interests. Additionally, Plaintiffs’ subsequent reported profits, as well as

8

their share of performance and management fees also turned on Opus’ calculations.

9

DLI’s Auditors, Tax Professionals, and Applicable Industry Standards

10

91.

Over the years, DLI had a high auditor turnover rate. BDO USA, LLP served as

11

DLI’s auditor for the calendar years ending December 31, 2012 and 2013. EisnerAmper LLP was

12

DLI’s auditor for the calendar years ending December 31, 2013, 2014, and 2015. Thereafter,

13

Deloitte became DLI’s third auditor in five years. Deloitte issued Audit Reports and assisted in

14

preparation of the Funds’ audited financial statements for the calendar years ending December 31,

15

2016 and 2017. Deloitte’s Audit Reports bore Deloitte’s letterhead, listed Deloitte’s San

16

Francisco address, and were signed by “Deloitte & Touche LLP.”

17

92.

Auditors, like Deloitte, have obligations under the professional standards

18

enumerated by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“AICPA”) in performing

19

private hedge fund audits. 2 In particular, auditors are required to adhere to the rules and

20

regulations promulgated by the AICPA, including:

21

a. An auditor conducting an audit in accordance with GAAS is responsible for
obtaining reasonable assurance that the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. AU-C,
§ 240.05.

22
23
24
25
26
27
28

2

The AICPA is the organization that develops and establishes professional standards and
auditors’ overall responsibilities when conducting an audit of financial statements. The
organization issues detailed interpretations of GAAS rules and auditor responsibilities through the
Statements of Accounting Standards, which are codified into AU sections (“AU”). See AU-C, §§
200.01, 200.02.
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1

b. The auditor should perform risk assessment procedures to provide a basis
for the identification and assessment of risks of material misstatement in the
financial statement and relevant assertion levels. AU-C, § 315.05.

2
3

c. In evaluating and assessing the risks of material misstatement [in financial
statements], as required by [AU-C § 315] the auditor should evaluate the
degree of estimation uncertainty associated with the accounting estimate
and determine whether, in the auditor’s professional judgment, any of those
accounting estimates that have been identified as having high estimation
uncertainty that give rise to significant risks. AU-C, § 540.10-11.

4
5
6
7

d. If the auditor considers it necessary to draw users’ attention to a matter
appropriately presented or disclosed in the financial statements that, in the
auditor’s professional judgment, is of such importance that it is fundamental
to users’ understanding of the financial statements, the auditor should
include an emphasis-of-matter paragraph in the auditor’s report, provided
that the auditor has obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence that the
matter is not materially misstated in the financial statements. AU-C, §
706.06.

8
9
10
11
12

e. The auditor has a responsibility to perform audit procedures to identify,
assess, and respond to the risks of material misstatement arising from the
entity’s failure to appropriately account for or disclose related party
relationships, transactions, or balances. AU-C, § 540.04.

13
14
15

93.

The Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (“PCAOB”) is also charged

16

with overseeing public company audits and requires auditors to test, and to document their testing

17

of, management’s assumptions and other aspects of financial statement issuers’ accounting

18

estimates. PCAOB Rel. 2007-001, at 10; see also AU-C, § 540.06. Auditors are solely

19

responsible for reviewing, auditing, and expressing opinions concerning a fund’s financial

20

statements, as well as testing controls, and, among other things, are required to:

21
22
23
24
25
26
27

a. Plan and perform audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the funds’
financial statements were free from material misstatement whether due to fraud or
error, and fairly presented the funds’ financial position and results of operations;
b. Perform audits in accordance with GAAS and other applicable standards and
obtain evidence supporting the valuation of the funds’ investments included in
their financial statements; and,
c. Perform audits with due care, professional skepticism, and in a manner sufficient
to address the existence of and disclosure requirements for related party
transactions.

28
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1

94.

Deloitte was therefore required to adhere to the above-referenced standards to

2

ensure that the Funds’ financial statements accurately represented its financial condition and were

3

free from material misstatement. Additionally, Deloitte was required to evaluate whether there

4

was a substantial doubt about the Funds’ ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable

5

period of time, not to exceed one year beyond the date of the financial statements being audited.

6

See AS 2415.

7

95.

Similarly, Deloitte Tax was subject to the AICPA’s Statements on Standards for

8

Tax Services (“SSTSs”) in preparing DLI tax and returns and investors related K-1s. The SSTSs

9

and interpretations delineate tax professionals’ responsibilities to taxpayers, the public, and the

10

profession. While tax professionals, like Deloitte Tax, may generally rely on information

11

furnished by third parties, the SSTSs direct that tax professionals make inquiries if the

12

information furnished appears to be incorrect, incomplete, or inconsistent on the basis of other

13

facts known to the member. Upon information and belief, Deloitte Tax did not perform adequate

14

due diligence on information they received from the Deloitte auditors to properly prepare the DLI

15

tax returns which resulted in K-1s being sent to Plaintiffs that inflated asset values and income

16

flowing through to Plaintiffs.

17

Deloitte’s Audit, Tax, and Advisory Services

18

96.

Deloitte and Deloitte Tax provided integrated audit, advisory, and tax services to

19

DLI Capital and its subsidiaries (including DLIF), and was identified in DLIF’s PPM and related

20

marketing materials as the Funds’ independent auditor.

21

97.

Monthly Investor Updates delivered to Plaintiffs also touted Deloitte’s and

22

Deloitte Tax’s retention for the performance of audit and tax work for the Funds. For example,

23

an October 5, 2016 Investor Update sent to investors by Opus announced that DLI had engaged

24

Deloitte for its 2016 audit. Specifically, the Investor Update stated:

25
26
27
28

At 244,000 professionals and $36 billion in revenue, Deloitte is the largest
professional services network in the world. Looking beyond their prestigious brand,
Deloitte has a particular commitment to fin‐tech / marketplace lending / private
credit. They audit LendingClub, Prosper, BlackRock, Jeffries, Paypal, Orchard,
Colchis, and many of the other established non‐bank lenders that have adopted a
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1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20

Big 4 audit firm. We look forward to a smooth audit that will take advantage of
Deloitte’s scale to deliver our audit on a shorter timeline than last year.
*****
For taxable domestic retail investors, a potentially important but somewhat obscure
benefit of this transition will be changes to the Form K‐1 that should reduce the
“Other Income” line. As a result of the structure change, management
fees and most fund expenses will now be expenses of the Master fund.
98.

Based on the repeated use of Deloitte’s and Deloitte Tax’s names in PPMs,

Investor Updates, and other marketing materials, Deloitte and Deloitte Tax knew that their names
were being used by DLI to market the Funds, giving the Funds an air of legitimacy to draw in
investors. Upon information and belief, Deloitte provided its consent for the inclusion of its name
in marketing and advertising documents.
99.

Upon information and belief, Deloitte and Deloitte Tax worked closely with one

another in performing services for the Funds including, but not limited to, sharing audit and
investment information across integrated systems.
Deloitte’s Audit Reports Whitewash the
Funds’ Financial Condition and Valuation Practices
100.

For the calendar years ending December 31, 2016 (issued April 27, 2017) and

December 31, 2017 (issued April 27, 2018), Deloitte issued Audit Reports for DLIF stating that
(i) the audit at issue was performed in accordance with GAAS, and (ii) the information contained
in the financial statements, including the accompanying footnotes, had been prepared and
reported in conformity with GAAP.
101.

Specifically, in each Audit Report, Deloitte stated that:

21

a.

Its Audit was performed in accordance with GAAS;

22

b.

It believed the audit evidence that it had obtained was sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for its Audit Report;

c.

The financial statements subject to the audit were prepared in conformity
with GAAP;

d.

The financial statements subject to the audit presented fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position and results of operations and cash flows of
PPCO as of December 31 of the relevant year; and,

23
24
25
26
27
28
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1

e.

The financial statements subject to the audit were free of material
misstatement.

102.

Both Deloitte’s 2016 and 2017 Audit Reports identified two main assets on

2
3
4

DLIF’s balance sheet: (i) an equity investment in DLI Capital; and (ii) a note receivable

5

from DLI Capital. As a result, both Audit Reports referenced and attached DLI Capital’s

6

consolidated financial statements, including the consolidated condensed schedule of

7

investments, and audit report prepared by Deloitte.

8
9
10
11
12

103.

statements, which averred that DLIF and DLI Capital were highly successful hedge funds, growing
over the course of each year. Indeed, Deloitte’s Audit Report confirmed that:
a.

13
14
15

Deloitte’s Audit Reports corroborated DLIF’s and DLI Capital’s financial

b.

16
17
104.

for the year ending December 31, 2016, the total claimed fair value of
investments were $801,694,006 for DLIF and $804,375,693 for DLI
Capital, and $122,347,560 for QuarterSpot and $98,879,915 for VoIP
Guardian; and
for the year ending December 31, 2017, the total claimed fair value of
investments were $ 710,507,683 for DLIF and $ 819,274,968 for DLI
Capital, and $50,014,245 for QuarterSpot and $180,396,984 for VoIP
Guardian.
Deloitte’s 2017 Audit Reports, notably, omitted the segregation of QuarterSpot

18
into a side pocket investment maintained on DLI Capital’s financial statements. Nor did it
19
disclose a related party sale of approximately $55 million of the Fund’s QuarterSpot position at
20
par to DL Global that took place in September of 2017.
21
105.

As to VoIP Guardian, Deloitte’s 2017 Audit Report failed to disclose material

22
concentration risks associated with the revolving line of credit. Specifically, Deloitte’s 2017
23
Audit Report did not disclose that VoIP Guardian had only six Counterparty borrowers, and that
24
approximately 82% of VoIP Guardian’s $192 million in “Notes Receivable” securing its debt
25
were notes to just two foreign companies: $101,165,115 to Telacme Limited and $58,004,470 to
26
Najd Technologies Limited. Furthermore, the 2017 Audit Report failed disclose that principals
27
of DLI owned a 4.99% interest in VoIP Guardian.
28
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1

106.

Furthermore, Deloitte did not disclose that there was a substantial doubt about

2

DLIF’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time even though DLIF’s

3

limited partner withdrawals eclipsed capital contributions received by $171,436,798 over the

4

previous sixteen months.

5

107.

Upon information and belief, Deloitte took no action to investigate the segregation

6

and resolution of the QuarterSpot side pocket, the related party transactions, and the credit risks

7

which indicated that the Funds’ financial statements were materially inaccurate, in derogation of

8

its responsibilities as a public accounting firm (as well as GAAS and GAAP).

9

108.

Rather, it accepted what Ross and DLI represented at face value in violation of its

10

obligation to obtain reasonable assurances that the Funds’ financial statements were free from

11

material misstatement.

12

109.

Deloitte’s 2016 and 2017 Audit Reports are attached hereto as Exhibits A-B.

13

110.

Plaintiffs relied on Deloitte’s Audit Reports and the audited financial statements it

14
15

helped prepare in determining whether to hold or make additional investments in DLI.

16

Deloitte Tax Prepared K-1s that Materially Overstated the
Taxable Income Associated with Each Plaintiff’s Capital Account

17

111.

Deloitte Tax prepared the 2016 and 2017 individual K-1s for each Plaintiff, which

18

incorporated the Audit Reports’ year-end numbers and reported each Plaintiff’s pro rata share of

19

the Fund’s income and expenses using information derived from Deloitte’s audit work. Upon

20

information and belief, Deloitte Tax worked closely with Deloitte to confirm the value of

21

Plaintiff’s contributions and withdrawals each year, as well as the value of DLIF’s and DLI

22

Capital’s assets each year.

23

112.

These K-1s were addressed to each “Limited Partner” and identified taxable

24

income associated with each Plaintiff’s capital account, certifying to Plaintiffs that real

25

investment income was earned for each account.

26

113.

The cover letter accompanying each K-1 that was addressed to each Plaintiff bore

27

Deloitte’s letterhead and was signed by “Deloitte Tax LLP.” Deloitte thus expected and intended

28

for Plaintiffs to rely on the thoroughness, accuracy, and integrity of the K-1s, and Deloitte Tax
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1

understood that each specific Plaintiff would be relying on the K-1s in paying his or her federal

2

and state income taxes.

3
4
5
6

114.

Deloitte Tax’s K-1s materially overstated Plaintiffs’ capital account balances and

the taxable income associated therewith.
115.

Plaintiffs relied on Deloitte Tax’s K-1s in deciding to hold and make additional

investments in DLIF.

7

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

8

(Negligent Misrepresentation Against Deloitte & Deloitte Tax)

9
10
11

116.

Plaintiffs repeat and reallege the allegations in the foregoing Paragraphs as if

restated in full herein.
117.

Collectively, Deloitte and Deloitte Tax audited DLI’s year-end 2016 and 2017

12

financial statements, continued to perform audit work for DLI through at least 2018, and prepared

13

K-1s specifically for each individual Plaintiff.

14

118.

Deloitte and Deloitte Tax each owed a duty to exercise reasonable care to the

15

limited partners, including Plaintiffs, to perform its audit and tax work in accordance with GAAS

16

and SSTSs, to provide Plaintiffs with accurate K-1s and Audit Reports, and to design policies

17

relative to the Funds’ financial statements in accordance with GAAP.

18

119.

Deloitte and Deloitte Tax owed these duties directly to Plaintiffs separate and apart

19

from the contractual duties they owed to DLI. Deloitte Tax assumed the duty to prepare

20

Plaintiffs’ individual K-1s, and Deloitte assumed the duty to prepare independent Audit Reports

21

and to create policies that directly affected DLI’s financial statements for the benefit of the

22

limited partners, including Plaintiffs. Deloitte and Deloitte Tax were fully aware that Plaintiffs

23

would necessarily rely on the K-1s, Audit Reports, and financial statements to calculate

24

individual tax liabilities and make individual investment decisions.

25

120.

In its Audit Reports, Deloitte represented to Plaintiffs that it had audited DLI’s

26

financial statements in accordance with GAAS and found the Funds’ financial statements to

27

conform to GAAP and to be free of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

28
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1

121.

The representations in the Audit Reports that Deloitte prepared were false and

2

misleading because Deloitte failed to conform to the professional standards for accountants,

3

including by (i) failing to conduct its Audits of the Funds in accordance with GAAS and GAAP,

4

and (ii) failing to provide accurate information in the Audit Reports it prepared for Plaintiffs.

5

122.

Specifically, Deloitte failed to exercise the applicable audit standard of due

6

professional care when auditing the Funds’ financial statements, including by failing to, (i)

7

comply with applicable GAAS standards in the planning and execution of the audits, (ii) test

8

internal controls including management’s ability to override of such controls, (iii) detect the

9

fraud, (iv) determine if previously issued financial statements needed revision due to inadequate

10

internal controls and possible override of internal controls by management, and (v) otherwise take

11

various actions to make the facts known to Plaintiffs who Deloitte knew were relying on the

12

Audit Reports and financial statements.

13

123.

Deloitte’s 2017 Audit Report also contained material misstatements related to

14

QuarterSpot. Specifically, Deloitte failed to disclose the segregation of QuarterSpot into a side

15

pocket which, according to the Fund’s PPM, was to be carried and disclosed on DLI Capital’s

16

financial statements. Deloitte also failed to disclose the related party transfer to DL Global in its

17

2017 Audit Report as required by GAAS.

18

124.

Deloitte Tax also supplied false information in the K-1s that it prepared for

19

Plaintiffs in violation of applicable SSTSs. These K-1s identified taxable income associated with

20

each account and certified that real investment income existed for each Plaintiffs’ account.

21

125.

Had Deloitte performed audits that conformed to GAAS, it would have discovered

22

that the Funds’ financial statements were false and that DLI did not have the assets they reported.

23

Moreover, Deloitte Tax would not have issued K-1s to Plaintiffs that reported sham income and

24

caused Plaintiffs to pay taxes on funds that did not exist.

25

126.

Deloitte and Deloitte Tax failed to exercise reasonable care and competence in

26

performing its Audits and communicating false information regarding the value of Plaintiffs’

27

capital accounts to Plaintiffs. And, Deloitte and Deloitte Tax were negligent or reckless in

28

communicating false information they believed to be true to Plaintiffs, on which Plaintiffs
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1

justifiably relied, to guide Plaintiffs in their investment decisions, including calculating and

2

paying their individual tax liabilities and performance fees.

3

127.

Deloitte and Deloitte Tax knew and intended that the Funds’ financial statements,

4

Audit Reports, and K-1s would be provided to limited partners, including Plaintiffs, and would be

5

relied on by them in making investment decisions and calculating their individual tax liabilities.

6

Deloitte knew the identity of each Plaintiff because it sent audit confirmations directly to

7

Plaintiffs and because Deloitte Tax prepared K-1s for each Plaintiff which listed each Plaintiff’s

8

name and home address.

9

128.

Plaintiffs were the specific class of persons who relied upon Deloitte’s Audit

10

Reports, audited financial statements, and K-1s and who Deloitte and Deloitte Tax knew and

11

intended would rely upon that work. Specifically, Deloitte expected and intended that Plaintiffs

12

would rely on the Audit Reports and financial statements in deciding whether to invest, hold, sell

13

or make additional investments in DLIF. Deloitte Tax also expected Plaintiffs to rely on the K-

14

1s, which it represented were based on Deloitte’s Audit Reports, in preparing and paying his or

15

her federal and state income taxes.

16

129.

Plaintiffs justifiably relied upon the materially misleading Audit Reports, financial

17

statements, and K-1s, without knowing they were false, in deciding whether to hold their

18

investments or make additional investments in DLIF, making excessive management and

19

performance fee payments, and paying personal income tax.

20
21
22
23

130.

Plaintiffs’ reliance on Deloitte’s and Deloitte Tax’s misrepresentations was a

substantial factor in causing Plaintiffs’ harm in an amount to be determined at trial.
WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for judgment against Deloitte and Deloitte Tax as
hereinafter set forth.

24

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

25

(Negligent Misrepresentation Against Opus)

26
27

131.

Plaintiffs repeat and reallege the allegations in the foregoing Paragraphs as if

restated in full herein.

28
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1

132.

Opus served as DLI’s administrator from 2012 through 2019. As DLI’s

2

administrator, Opus had a unique and special expertise and superior position with respect to

3

providing administrative services and calculating the Funds’ NAV and account balances. As a

4

result, Opus owed the limited partners, including Plaintiffs, a duty to exercise reasonable care in

5

the performance of its duties as DLI’s administrator.

6

133.

Opus owed these duties directly to Plaintiffs separate and apart from the

7

contractual duties Opus owed to DLI. Opus assumed the duty to prepare Capital Statements for

8

the benefit of each individual limited partner, including each Plaintiff, and Opus was fully aware

9

that Plaintiffs would necessarily rely on the Capital Statements and NAV calculations to make

10
11
12
13

investment decisions.
134.

In its Capital Statements, Opus made representations about the Funds’ NAV and

the funds available in each Plaintiff’s capital account.
135.

Opus’ NAV calculations and Capital Statements were false. The NAV

14

calculations were inflated and the Capital Accounts did not hold the amounts that Opus had

15

represented.

16

136.

In issuing the NAV calculations and Capital Statements, Opus acted negligently

17

because it knew or had access to underlying Counterparty information and performance data

18

which showed that its Capital Statements were false. Opus also acted negligently or recklessly by

19

failing to verify the information received directly from Counterparties despite a duty to scrutinize

20

and verify independently information relating to the NAV and Capital Statements. In addition, its

21

failure to check or verify the information was reckless because Opus was aware of the increased

22

risks surrounding the Fund’s assets because they had no independent observable market input.

23

137.

Opus knew and intended that the Capital statements and NAV calculations would

24

be provided to limited partners, including Plaintiffs, and that they would be relied on by Plaintiffs

25

in making investment decisions. Opus knew the identity of each Plaintiff because Opus prepared

26

Capital Statements for each Plaintiff which listed each Plaintiff’s name and home address.

27
28

138.

Plaintiffs were a specific class of persons who relied upon Opus’ reports and

statements and Opus knew and intended would rely upon that work. And, Opus made the false
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1

representations it believed to be true knowing that Plaintiffs would use and rely upon the

2

misrepresentations for the particular purpose of determining whether to invest, make additional

3

investments, and hold their investments in the Fund.

4

139.

Plaintiffs justifiably relied upon the materially misleading Capital Statements and

5

NAV calculations, without knowing they were false, in deciding to invest, make additional

6

investments, and hold their investments in DLIF. Plaintiffs also relied on Opus’ NAV

7

calculations in making excessive performance and incentive payments.

8
9
10
11

140.

Plaintiffs reliance on Opus’ misrepresentation was a substantial factor in causing

Plaintiffs’ harm in amount to be determined at trial.
WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for judgment against the Deloitte Defendants as hereinafter
set forth.

12

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION

13

(Intentional Misrepresentation Against Opus)

14
15
16

141.

Plaintiffs repeat and reallege the allegations in the foregoing Paragraphs as if

restated in full herein.
142.

Prior to Plaintiffs’ initial investment in DLIF, Opus made materially false and

17

misleading statements to Plaintiffs’ RIA concerning its role and oversight as DLI’s independent

18

administrator. Specifically, and as set forth in Paragraphs 83 through 84 above, Opus made direct

19

representations to Plaintiffs’ RIA that it verified the asset valuations of DLI’s Counterparties and

20

independently calculated the Funds’ NAV based on the platform data that it received directly

21

from those Counterparties.

22

143.

Upon information and belief, these material representations were in fact

23

intentionally false. Specifically, Opus knew that it did not independently verify the underlying

24

asset valuations of DLI Counterparties, did not perform independent NAV calculations, and did

25

not receive platform data directly from DLI Counterparties. Had Opus independently verified the

26

underlying asset valuations based on platform data that it received directly from Fund

27

Counterparties, Opus would have identified, among other things, the systematic overvaluation of

28

the Fund’s positions in QuarterSpot and VoIP Guardian.
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1

144.

Opus’ misstatements concerning its role as DLI’s administrator were designed to

2

induce Plaintiffs’ reliance and investments in DLIF. Specifically, Opus communicated these

3

material misrepresentations directly to Plaintiffs’ RIA prior to Plaintiffs’ initial investments in

4

DLIF. At that time, Opus knew the RIA was performing pre-investment due diligence on behalf

5

of Plaintiffs and that its misrepresentations concerning independent oversight and superior access

6

to Counterparty information would entice Plaintiffs to invest in DLIF.

7

145.

Plaintiffs did not know, nor could they have discovered through the exercise of

8

any amount of due diligence, that Opus’ representations about the services it performed were

9

false at the time they were made.

10

146.

Plaintiffs justifiably relied on Opus’ misrepresentations and relied upon the

11

absence of omitted facts necessary to make the facts represented not misleading. As previously

12

set forth herein, in reliance on the Opus’ misrepresentations and omissions, Plaintiffs, among

13

other things, deciding to invest in DLIF. Had Plaintiffs known of the falsity of Opus’

14

representations, and the material facts that Opus wrongfully concealed, Plaintiffs would not have

15

invested in DLIF.

16

147.

Opus’ misrepresentations were material to Plaintiffs’ decision to invest in DLIF.

17

Had Plaintiffs known that Opus did not independently verify the underlying asset valuations of

18

DLI Counterparties as well as the Funds’ NAV based on the platform data that it received directly

19

from Counterparties, Plaintiffs would not have invested in DLIF.

20

148.

Plaintiffs’ reliance on Opus’ materially false and intentionally misleading

21

representations was a substantial factor in causing Plaintiffs’ harm in an amount to be determined

22

at trial.

23

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for judgment against the Opus as hereinafter set forth.

24

REQUEST FOR RELIEF

25

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for trial by jury and respectfully request that the Court:

26

A.

Enter judgment in favor of Plaintiffs against Defendants on all Counts;

27

B.

Award Plaintiffs compensatory damages in an amount to be determined at trial and

28

in excess of the minimum jurisdiction of this Court;
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1
2

C.

Award Plaintiffs cost of suit incurred herein, including reasonable attorneys’ fees

as permitted by statute of other law;

3

D.

Award Plaintiffs punitive damages against Opus on Count III; and,

4

E.

Such other and further relied as the Court deems just and proper.

5
6

Dated: April 27, 2020

HOGE, FENTON, JONES & APPEL, INC.

7
8
9

By:
Eugene Ashley
Attorneys for Plaintiffs

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To Direct Lending Income Fund, LP:
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Direct Lending Income Fund, LP (the
“Partnership”) which comprise the statement of assets, liabilities and partners’ capital as of December 31,
2016, and the related statements of operations, changes in partners’ capital, and cash flows for the year
then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Partnership’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Partnership’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Direct Lending Income Fund, LP as of December 31, 2016, and the results of its
operations, changes in its partners’ capital, and its cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

April 26, 2017

Direct Lending Income Fund, LP
Statement of Assets, Liabilities and Partners' Capital
December 31, 2016

Assets
Investment in DLI Capital, Inc.
Note receivable from DLI Capital, Inc.
Cash
Interest receivable
Dividend receivable
Total Assets

$

Liabilities
Withdrawals payable
Distributions payable
Advance capital contributions
Withholding taxes payable
Due to DLI Capital, Inc.
Total Liabilities
Partners' Capital

152,726,363
610,905,452
31,820,985
5,998,473
242,733
801,694,006

19,994,124
2,112,484
27,249,223
819
86,041
49,442,691
$

752,251,315

Refer to accompanying notes to financial statements and consolidated financial statements of DLI Capital, Inc.

5

Direct Lending Income Fund, LP
Statement of Operations
Year ended December 31, 2016

Investment Income:
Interest income

$

67,966,524

Investment income from Notes Receivable and Investment in
DLI Capital, Inc. (Note 1):
Interest income
Dividend income (net of withholding taxes of $15,908)
Total investment income from DLI Capital, Inc.
Total investment income

18,233,021
776,799
19,009,820
86,976,344

Fund Expenses:
Management fees
Administration fees
Professional fees
Custody fees
Legal fees
Other expenses
Total fund expenses
Net investment income

4,137,361
223,343
762,200
149,095
877,044
111,977
6,261,020
80,715,324

Net realized gain (loss) and unrealized appreciation (depreciation)
from investments:
Net realized gain (loss) on investments
Net change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on investments
Net realized and unrealized gain (loss) from investments
Net increase in partners' capital resulting from operations

(5,321,538)
1,777,130
(3,544,408)
77,170,916

$

Refer to accompanying notes to financial statements and consolidated financial statements of DLI Capital, Inc.
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Direct Lending Income Fund, LP
Statement of Changes in Partners’ Capital
Year ended December 31, 2016

General
Partner
Increase in partners' capital from operations:
Net investment income

$

Distributions to limited partners
Performance allocation
Capital transactions:
Capital contributions
Capital withdrawals
Net increase (decrease) in partners' capital
resulting from capital transactions
Net increase (decrease) in partners' capital
Partners' Capital, beginning of the year
Partners' Capital, end of the year

$

Limited
Partners

73,813

$

77,097,103

Total
$

77,170,916

-

(21,334,545)

10,374,102

(10,374,102)

-

1,482
(12,119,861)

493,397,558
(192,348,827)

493,399,040
(204,468,688)

(12,118,379)

301,048,731

288,930,352

(1,670,464)
1,685,419
14,955

346,437,187
405,799,173
752,236,360

344,766,723
407,484,592
752,251,315

$

Refer to accompanying notes to financial statements and consolidated financial statements of DLI Capital, Inc.

(21,334,545)

$

7

Direct Lending Income Fund, LP
Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended December 31, 2016

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net increase in partners' capital from operations
Adjustments to reconcile net increase in partners' capital from
operations to net cash used in operating activities:
Purchase of investments
Proceeds from sales of investments and principal repayments
Net realized loss from investments
Net change in unrealized (appreciation) depreciation on investments
Purchase of Investment in DLI Capital, Inc.
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Increase in Note receivable from DLI Capital, Inc.
Decrease in Due from Platforms
Increase in Interest receivable
Increase in Dividend receivable
Decrease in Other assets
Increase in Taxes payable
Increase in Due to DLI Capital, Inc.
Decrease in Payable to General Partner
Decrease in Other liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities

$

(621,022,035)
295,174,149
5,321,538
(1,777,130)
(18,170,858)
(72,683,433)
11,429,565
(3,249,915)
(242,733)
646,486
819
86,041
(445)
(130,664)
(327,447,699)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from capital contributions
Change in advance capital contributions
Payments for capital withdrawals
Change in withdrawals payable
Change in distributions payable
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase in cash
Cash, beginning of year
Cash, end of year

77,170,916

493,399,040
(2,628,836)
(181,294,742)
17,922,822
968,598
328,366,882

$

919,183
30,901,802
31,820,985

Supplemental information and non-cash operating activities:
Amounts paid for withholding taxes
In-kind purchase of investment in DLI Capital, Inc.
In-kind increase in note receivable from DLI Capital, Inc.

$

(15,089)
(134,555,505)
(538,222,019)

Refer to accompanying notes to financial statements and consolidated financial statements of DLI Capital, Inc.
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Direct Lending Income Fund, LP
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2016

1. Organization and Basis of Presentation
Direct Lending Income Fund, L.P. (the "Partnership"), a Delaware investment limited partnership, was
organized on September 21, 2012 and commenced operations on November 1, 2012. The Partnership
was organized to operate as a private investment partnership.
During the period of January 1, 2016 through September 31, 2016, the Partnership operated as a standalone, open-ended investment fund. On October 1, 2016, the Partnership invested into DLI Capital, Inc.
(the “Master Fund”) via a subscription in-kind, by assigning its investments and other assets into a
subsidiary of the Master Fund in exchange for a combination of the Master Fund’s debt and equity. The
Master Fund is organized to invest directly or indirectly in short-term loans, lines of credit, receivables,
other debt obligations and real estate loans. The consolidated financial statements of the Master Fund,
including the consolidated condensed schedule of investments are attached to and should be read in
conjunction with the Partnership’s financial statements. The Partnership owned approximately 91.9% of
the Master Fund at December 31, 2016.
Direct Lending Investments, LLC, a related party, serves as the general partner and investment manager
(the “General Partner”) of the Partnership. The General Partner is registered as an investment advisor
with the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940.
Opus Fund Services (Bermuda) Ltd. serves as the Partnership’s administrator providing administrative
and record keeping services.
Basis of Presentation
The financial statements have been prepared in conformity with the accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). The Partnership is an investment company and
follows the accounting and reporting guidance in Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”)
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 946. The financial statements have been presented in US
Dollars.
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions in determining the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, including the
fair value of investments, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of income and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates and those differences could be material.

9
Refer to accompanying consolidated financial statements of DLI Capital, Inc.

Direct Lending Income Fund, LP
Notes to Financial Statements

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Cash
Cash consists of cash at financial institutions. Cash includes $27.2 million of deposits representing
advanced capital contributions held at Northbrook Bank & Trust in the custody of the Partnership’s
administrator, Opus Fund Services.
Note Receivable
Effective October 1, 2016, the Partnership entered into a loan and security agreement with the Master
Fund, whereby the Partnership provides a revolving credit facility, collateralized by the assets of the
Master Fund, up to $2,000,000,000. The facility earns interest at 12% annually of the daily principal
balance outstanding, receivable monthly, in arrears. The maturity date of the facility of September 30,
2021, and the Note is due in full at that date.
The principal balance outstanding at December 31, 2016 is $610,905,452. For the period of October 1,
2016 through December 31, 2016, the Partnership earned $18,233,021 in interest income, of which
$5,998,473 is receivable as of December 31, 2016.
Dividend Income
Dividend income is recognized on the ex-dividend date and comprises the Partnership’s allocable
portion of net earnings of the Master Fund. For the period of October 1, 2016 through December 31,
2016, the Partnership recognized $776,799 in dividends (net of withholding taxes) from the Master
Fund, of which $242,733 is receivable at December 31, 2016.
Valuation of Investment in DLI Capital, Inc.
The Partnership records its investment in the Master Fund at its proportionate share of equity of the
Master Fund. Valuation of investments held by the Master Fund, including, but not limited to, the
valuation techniques used and categorization within the fair value hierarchy of investments, are
discussed in the notes to the Master Fund’s consolidated financial statements, included elsewhere in
this report.
Income Taxes
No provision for Federal, state and local income taxes has been made in the accompanying financial
statements, as individual partners are responsible for their proportionate share of the Partnership’s
taxable income. Interest, dividends and other income realized by the Partnership from non-U.S. sources
and capital gains realized on the sale of securities of non-U.S. issuers may be subject to withholding and
other taxes levied by the jurisdiction in which the income is sourced.
Tax laws are complex and subject to different interpretations by the taxpayer and taxing authorities.
Significant judgment is required when evaluating tax positions and related uncertainties. Future events
such as changes in tax legislation could require a provision for income taxes and any such changes could
10
Refer to audited consolidated financial statements of DLI Capital, Inc., attached.

Direct Lending Income Fund, LP
Notes to Financial Statements

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
significantly affect amounts reported in the statement of operations. The Partnership is subject to
potential examination by taxing authorities in various jurisdictions. The open tax years under potential
examination vary by jurisdiction. The Partnership recognizes interest and penalties, if any, related to
unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense in the statement of operations. As of December 31,
2016, there was no impact to the financial statements relating to accounting for uncertainty in income
taxes.
3. Investment Valuations and Fair Value Measurements
Fair Value – Definition and Hierarchy
In determining fair value, the Partnership uses GAAP, which establishes a hierarchy that prioritizes the
inputs used to measure fair value. Debt and equity securities that are not publicly traded or whose
market prices are not readily available are valued at fair value as determined in good faith by
management. The fair values are developed based on the best information available in the
circumstances, in the absence of an observable input. Investments are categorized based on the lowest
level of input significant to the fair value measurement, as follows:
Level 1 – The valuation is based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical
instruments.
Level 2 – The valuation is based on observable inputs such as quoted prices for similar
instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that
are not active, and model-based valuation techniques for which all significant inputs are
observable in the market.
Level 3 – The valuation is based on unobservable data used when there is little or no market
activity and reflects management’s own assumptions about how market participants would
price such assets. Level 3 valuations are typically performed using pricing models, discounted
cash flow or similar techniques.
Measurement of fair value using level 2 and level 3 inputs necessitates the use of estimates and
assumptions that are inherently subjective, and the values determined by management as a result of
using such inputs may differ significantly from the values that would have been used had observable
quotations in an active market existed, and the differences could be material. The level of input used for
valuing securities is not necessarily an indication of the risk associated with investing in those securities.
Fair Value – Valuation Processes
The General Partner is responsible for valuation policies and procedures and determining the fair value
of the investments. Such procedures are designed to assure that the applicable valuation approach is
appropriate and that values included in these financial statements that are based on unobservable
inputs are reasonable.
11
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Direct Lending Income Fund, LP
Notes to Financial Statements

3. Investment Valuations and Fair Value Measurements (continued)
The Managing Member of the General Partner oversees the valuation process, which includes
consultation with internal valuation professionals and corroboration by third party valuation
professionals on a quarterly basis. The Managing Member of the General Partner reviews decisions and
recommendations made by internal valuation professionals, changes in fair value measurements and
may, as considered appropriate, update fair value guidelines to reflect available information.
Fair Value – Valuation Techniques and Inputs
The fair value of debt securities, which includes platform notes and asset-backed facilities, is determined
using an income approach. The income approach uses valuation techniques that measure the net
present value of anticipated future economic benefits (i.e. net cash flows). The estimated net cash flows
generally develop an estimate of future cash flows that are expected to occur over the life of the
contract based on investment-specific historical performance rates and default rates, loan to value
ratios for the facilities, and covenant compliance, including the timeliness of interest payments. The
default rate presented is an annualized, average estimate developed with respect to the platform notes
or the borrowing base for the asset backed facilities, based on borrowing base eligibility rules underlying
each facility. Where a cash flow estimate is not used, other unobservable inputs may be available,
including recent transaction information.
The fair value of equity investments in private companies is determined using the practical expedient
described in ASC 820-10-35-59 - Measuring the Fair Value of Investments in Certain Entities That
Calculate Net Asset Value per Share (or Its Equivalent). Management reviews source data for these
positions, including monthly financial statements and collateral asset reports, as well as ownership
interests owned by the Partnership. Management also inspects the quality and performance of the
underlying assets on a regular basis to validate the asset value of those private companies.
Fair Value Measurements
The Partnership’s investments are categorized as Level 3 investments. The following table provides a
reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances for all investments for the year ended December 31,
2016:
Beginning balance, January 1, 2016
(1)
Purchases
Principal payments
Net realized loss on investments
Net change in unrealized appreciation on investments
Transferred to DLI Capital, Inc.
Ending balance, December 31, 2016

$

$

394,982,535
621,022,035
(295,174,149)
(5,321,538)
1,777,130
(717,286,013)
─

Net change in unrealized gain on investments still held at December 31, 2016
(1) Purchases include capitalized interest.

$

─

During the year ended December 31, 2016, there were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 or 3 of the fair
value hierarchy.
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Direct Lending Income Fund, LP
Notes to Financial Statements

4. Partnership Terms
Contributions
The minimum initial capital contribution by investors (“Limited Partners”) to the Partnership is
$250,000, subject to the General Partner’s sole discretion to accept subscriptions for lesser amounts.
The General Partner may, in its sole discretion, elect to temporarily or permanently suspend the offering
of Interests. The General Partner may, in its sole discretion, reject any subscription request for any
reason or no reason.
The Partnership may accept such amounts as of the first business day of any calendar month, or at such
other times as the General Partner may permit.
Contributions received in advance of the effective date are recorded as advance capital contributions on
the Statement of Partner’s Capital. At December 31, 2016, advance capital contributions totaled
$27,249,223.
Withdrawals
Limited Partners may generally request to withdraw all or a portion of the balance in their capital
account as of the end of any calendar month (a “Withdrawal”), provided that the Partnership receives at
least 35 days prior written notice of such withdrawal. There is no minimum duration or “lock-up” period
for investments in the Partnership. The General Partner expects in normal circumstances that payments
for Withdrawals will generally be made within 30 days of the effective withdrawal date (except to the
extent of any unrealized side pocket investments); however, if sufficient cash is not available to
accommodate all withdrawal requests, the General Partner will allocate a pro rata share of cash
available for withdrawals, based on the relative net asset value of the capital accounts held by all limited
partners requesting withdrawal, in each calendar month to each limited partner requesting a
withdrawal until the request is paid in full. Withdrawals payable to Limited Partners at December 31,
2016 was $19,994,124.
Distributions
Limited Partners in the Partnership may elect to receive periodic monthly distributions equal to the
amount of net profits allocated to the Limited Partner’s Capital Account for the month. Limited Partners
may make the election at the time they initially subscribe to invest in the Partnership and may change
their election at any time, provided that any change to an election will only be given effect for a
calendar month if it is received at least 20 days before the end of the month. The distributions will
generally be paid within 30 days after the end of each calendar month. All periodic monthly distributions
are subject to availability of cash to fund such distributions. The amount due to the Limited Partners for
distributions as of December 31, 2016 amounts to $2,112,484.

13
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Direct Lending Income Fund, LP
Notes to Financial Statements

5. Allocation of Profit and Loss and Related Party Transactions
At the end of each accounting period of the Partnership, any net profit or loss is allocated to the capital
accounts of all Partners in proportion to their respective allocation percentages for such period. For this
purpose, each accounting period shall end at the close of each month, at any other time a Partner
makes an additional capital contribution or affects a withdrawal, and at such other times as the General
Partner may determine.
During the period of January 1, 2016 through September 30, 2016, the General Partner earned monthly
management fees equal to 0.0833% (1% per annum) of each Limited Partner’s Capital Account, payable
in advance. For that period, management fees incurred were $4,137,361. Beginning October 1, 2016,
management fees are incurred at the Master Fund, based on the Master Fund’s equity invested
allocable to each Limited Partner. Refer to the financial statements of DLI Capital, Inc. for further details.
During the period of January 1, 2016 through September 30, 2016, the General Partner earned a
Performance Allocation in an amount equal to 20% of the excess of (i) the net profits (less any net
losses) otherwise allocable for such month to the capital account of each Limited Partner over (ii) any
balance remaining in such limited partner’s cumulative loss account as of the beginning of such calendar
month. The General Partner has the right to reduce or waive management fees and performance
allocation for any limited partner. The performance allocation totaled $10,374,102 for the period from
January 1, 2016 to September 30, 2016.
Beginning October 1, 2016, the General Partner no longer received a performance allocation. Instead, a
performance fee is incurred by DLI Capital, Inc., based on each Limited Partner’s allocable net earnings
before interest expense and taxes. Refer to the financial statements of DLI Capital, Inc. for further
information. For the period from October 1, 2016 through December 31, 2016, the Master Fund
incurred $1,251,592 in management fees and $3,019,046 in performance fees on behalf of the
Partnership.
The General Partner may enter into agreements with certain Limited Partners that will result in different
terms of an investment in the Partnership than the terms applicable to other Limited Partners. As a
result of such agreements, certain Limited Partners may receive lower Management Fee rates or
Performance Allocations/Fees. The General Partner is not required to notify the other Limited Partners
of any such agreement or any of the rights and/or terms or provisions thereof, nor is the General
Partner required to offer such additional and/or different terms or rights to any other Limited Partner.
The General Partner may enter into any such agreement with any Limited Partner at any time in its sole
discretion.
Members of the General Partner and affiliated persons and other related parties have individual limited
partner capital accounts totaling approximately $6 million at December 31, 2016.
Expense Limitation Agreement
For the period of January 1, 2016 through September 30, 2016, the Partnership was subject to an
expense limitation agreement, where by the General Partner would pay any expenses of the
Partnership, other than Management Fees or Transaction Expenses, to the extent that such expenses
14
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Direct Lending Income Fund, LP
Notes to Financial Statements

5. Allocation of Profit and Loss and Related Party Transactions (continued)
exceed 1% on an annual basis or 0.0833% per month, subject to a recoupment in future months. No
amounts were subject to the expense limitation agreement for the period and the General Partner did
not recoup any amounts during the period.
Effective October 1, 2016, the expense limitation agreement is in place for the Master Fund, instead of
the Partnership. Refer to the financial statements of DLI Capital, Inc. for further information.
6. Indemnifications
The Partnership enters into contracts in the ordinary course of business under which it agrees to
indemnify counterparties from certain liabilities arising out of business that they conduct with the
Partnership. The Partnership’s maximum exposure under these arrangements is unknown. However, the
Partnership has not had prior claims or losses pursuant to these contracts and expects the risk of loss to
be remote.
7. Financial Highlights
Financial highlights for the year ended December 31, 2016 are as follows:
Total return
Total return before performance allocation
Performance allocation to General Partner
Total return after performance allocation to General Partner

12.85
(1.64)
11.21

%

Ratios to average limited partners’ capital
Net investment income

12.16

%

Expenses
Reallocation to General Partner
Expenses and reallocation to General Partner

0.99
1.64
2.63

An individual partner’s performance may vary based on different financial arrangements such as
management fee, performance allocation/fees and the timing of capital transactions.
Total return is computed based on the change in the Limited Partners’ capital accounts taken as a whole
during the period, adjusted for capital contributions and withdrawals.
8. Subsequent Events
For the period from January 1, 2017 through April 26, 2017, the Partnership accepted capital
contributions of approximately $134,746,000 inclusive of the contributions made in advance of
$27,249,223 at December 31, 2016.
During the period January 1, 2017 through April 26, 2017, capital withdrawals by limited partners
totaled $44,585,397 and distributions to limited partners totaled $7,858,300.
15
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Direct Lending Income Fund, LP
Notes to Financial Statements

8. Subsequent Events (continued)
Management has evaluated subsequent events through April 26, 2017, the date the financial statements
were available to be issued. Management has determined that there are no other material events that
would require adjustment to or disclosure in the Partnership’s financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To DLI Capital, Inc. and Subsidiaries:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the DLI Capital, Inc. and
Subsidiaries (the “Company”) which comprise the consolidated statement of assets and liabilities,
including the consolidated condensed schedule of investments, as of December 31, 2016, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, changes in net assets, and cash flows for the period from
October 1, 2016 (commencement of operations) through December 31, 2016, and the related notes to the
consolidated financial statements.
Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America;
this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Company’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Company’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of DLI Capital, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2016, and the
results of its operations, changes in its net assets, and its cash flows for the period from October 1, 2016
(commencement of operations) through December 31, 2016, in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

April 26, 2017

DLI Capital, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statement of Assets and Liabilities
December 31, 2016

Assets
Investments at fair value (cost $ 810,613,247)
Cash
Due from Platforms
Interest receivable
Prepaid assets
Other assets
Total Assets

$

Liabilities
Interest payable
Management fees payable
Performance fees payable
Loan servicing fees payable
Taxes payable
Dividends payable
Other liabilities
Debt
Total Liabilities

804,375,693
14,193,313
12,426,171
8,210,265
780,018
86,041
840,071,501

6,405,581
19,663
1,618,755
228,933
520,659
306,949
547,822
664,338,511
673,986,873

Commitments and contingencies (Note 8)
Net Assets
Analysis of Net Assets:
Net capital paid in on shares of common stock
Net Assets (equivalent to $10 per share based on
16,608,462.80 shares of common stock outstanding)

Refer to accompanying notes to financial statements.

$

166,084,628

166,084,628
$

166,084,628
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DLI Capital, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Condensed Schedule of Investments
December 31, 2016

Investments, at fair value
United States
Debt Investments
Asset-Backed Facilities
Consumer debt
CarePayment, LLC
FundHero, LLC

Principal /
Cost

Fair Value

18,490,609
22,900,000

11.13
13.79

29,675,789
33,000,000

17.87
19.87

29,675,789
33,000,000

Real estate
DLI Properties, LLC
Indigo-DLI Holdings I, LLC

192,500,000
8,743,038

115.90
5.26

192,500,000
8,743,038

Telecommunications
VoIP Guardian Partners I, LLC
Total Asset-Backed Facilities

98,879,915
404,189,351

59.54
243.36

98,879,915
404,189,351

19,966,477
18,188,891
38,155,368

12.02
10.96
22.98

19,966,477
18,188,891
38,155,368

123,308,617
62,749,019
2,035,337
188,092,973

73.67
35.63
0.78
110.08

122,347,560
59,175,913
1,294,483
182,817,956

11,533,872
10,235,462
8,571,150
1,700,000
32,040,484

6.94
6.16
5.16
1.00
19.26

11,533,872
10,235,462
8,571,150
1,660,000
32,000,484

51,127,826
713,606,002

30.23
425.91

50,205,289
707,368,448

Receivables
Capstone Business Funding, LLC
Forward Financing SPV, LLC

Corporate loans and revolvers
Finance
LendingUSA, LLC
Other Corporate loans and revolvers
Total Corporate loans and revolvers

$

Percentage of
Net Assets

%

$

18,490,609
22,900,000

(1)

Small business loans
Finance
QuarterSpot, Inc.
Dealstruck Holdings, Inc.
Other small business loans
Total small business loans
(1)

Real Estate loans
Real Estate
BayPoint Capital Partners, LP
Loan 20-1
Other BayPoint Loans
Biz 2 Credit - Commercial Real Estate
Other real estate loans
Total Real Estate Loans
(1)

Receivables
Finance
Biz 2 Credit, Inc.
Total Debt Investments
Refer to accompanying notes to financial statements.
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DLI Capital, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Condensed Schedule of Investments
December 31, 2016

Investments, at fair value (continued)
Equity Interests in Limited Liability Companies
Finance
CP Holdings 2, LLC
LCUSA Funding, LLC
Other equity interests in limited liability companies
Total Equity Investments
Total Investments, at fair value

Principal / Cost

$

$

28,812,517
63,502,552
4,692,176
97,007,245
810,613,247

Percentage of
Net Assets

17.35
38.24
2.83
58.42
484.33

Fair Value

%

$

%

$

28,812,517
63,502,552
4,692,176
97,007,245
804,375,693

Footnote (1): Unless otherwise identified, these investments represent a pool of loans or receivables originated by the counterparty listed, with
none greater than 5% of Net Assets.

Refer to accompanying notes to financial statements.
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DLI Capital, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statement of Operations
For the period from October 1, 2016 (Commencement of Operations) through
December 31, 2016

Investment Income:
Interest income
Total investment income

$

Expenses:
Interest expense
Management fees
Performance fees
Administration fees
Custody fees
Professional fees
Legal fees
Other expenses
Total expenses
Management fees waived (Note 4)
Performance fees waived (Note 4)
Net expenses
Net investment income before provision for taxes
Withholding taxes
Income taxes
Net investment income after provision for taxes

31,285,409
31,285,409

19,020,570
1,973,897
4,322,731
106,919
115,000
221,427
90,375
180,464
26,031,383
(664,307)
(1,158,708)
24,208,368
7,077,041
(32,117)
(488,871)
6,556,053

Net realized gain (loss) and unrealized appreciation (depreciation) from investments:
Net realized gain (loss) on investments
(9,368,981)
Net change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on investments
3,688,711
Net realized and unrealized gain (loss) from investments
(5,680,270)
Net increase in net assets resulting from operations

Refer to accompanying notes to financial statements.

$

875,783
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DLI Capital, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Assets
For the period from October 1, 2016 (Commencement of Operations) through
December 31, 2016

Increase in net assets resulting from operations:
Net investment income
Net realized loss on investments
Net change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on investments
Net increase in net assets resulting from operations

$

Dividends to shareholders from:
Net increase in net assets resulting from operations

6,556,053
(9,368,981)
3,688,711
875,783

(875,783)

Capital transactions:
Issuance of common stock

166,084,628

Total increase in net assets

166,084,628

Net assets, beginning of period
Net Assets, end of period

166,084,628

Changes in Capital Shares
Common stock, at beginning of period
Issuance of common stock
Common stock, at end of period

Refer to accompanying notes to financial statements.

$

16,608,462.80
16,608,462.80
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DLI Capital, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the period from October 1, 2016 (Commencement of Operations) through
December 31, 2016

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net increase in net assets resulting from operations
Adjustments to reconcile net increase in net assets resulting
from operations to net cash used in operating activities:
Purchases of investments
Proceeds from sales of investments and principal repayments
Net realized loss on investments
Net change in unrealized (appreciation) depreciation on investments
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Increase in Due from Platforms
Increase in Interest receivable
Increase in Prepaid assets
Increase in Other assets
Increase in Interest payable
Increase in Management fees payable
Increase in Performance fees payable
Increase in Loan servicing fees payable
Increase in Taxes payable
Increase in Other liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities

$

(179,612,435)
86,842,485
9,368,981
(3,688,711)
(12,426,171)
(8,210,265)
(780,018)
(86,041)
6,405,581
19,663
1,618,755
228,933
520,659
547,825
(98,374,976)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock
Proceeds from borrowings on debt
Dividends paid
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase in cash
Cash, beginning of period
Cash, end of period
Supplemental information and non-cash financing activities:
Cash paid for interest expense
Cash paid for income and withholding taxes
In-kind issuance of common stock
In-kind debt borrowings

Refer to accompanying notes to financial statements.

875,783

22,627,425
90,509,699
(568,835)
112,568,289

$

$

14,193,313
14,193,313

(12,614,989)
(329)
143,457,203
573,828,812
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DLI Capital, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the period from October 1, 2016 (Commencement of Operations) to December 31, 2016

1. Organization and Basis of Presentation

DLI Capital, Inc. (the "Company"), a Nevada corporation, was organized on June 22, 2016 and
commenced operations on October 1, 2016. The Company was organized through a master-feeder
structure whereby the Company serves as the master fund and offers debt and equity to its two feeder
funds, Direct Lending Income Fund, L.P. and Direct Lending Income Feeder Fund, Ltd. (collectively, the
“Feeder Funds”). Effective October 1, 2016, the Feeder Funds each invested substantially all of their
assets into the Company in exchange for a combination of debt and equity of the Company. This
transaction included the pre-existing operations and assets of Direct Lending Income Fund, L.P.
The Company is managed by Direct Lending Investments, LLC (the “Advisor”), an investment advisor that
is registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) under the Investment Advisers
Act of 1940, as amended. The Advisor directs and executes the investment operations of the Company.
On June 22, 2016, the Company formed DLI Capital Partner, Inc., a Nevada corporation (“Capital
Partner”) as a wholly-owned subsidiary. This subsidiary owns a 0.01% interest in DLI Assets Bravo, LLC.
DLI Assets Bravo, LLC (“Bravo”), a Nevada limited liability company, was formed on September 15, 2016.
The Company owns a 99.99% interest in Bravo. Bravo is the entity which owns the investment assets
within the structure. The financial statements of these two entities are consolidated into the financial
statements of the Company. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.
The objective of the Company is to generate current income through opportunistic investments, directly
or indirectly, in loans (“Notes”) to small- and medium-sized businesses, such as non-bank lenders
(collectively referred to as “Platforms”).
Basis of Presentation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with the accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). The Company is an investment company
and follows the accounting and reporting guidance in Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”)
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 946. The financial statements have been presented in U.S.
dollars.
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions in determining the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, including the
fair value of investments, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of income and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates and those differences could be material.
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DLI Capital, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Cash
Cash consists of cash at major financial institutions. Cash includes $11,686,965 held at Wells Fargo Bank,
N.A. in the custody of the Company’s custodian, Millennium Trust Company. Additional cash of
$2,506,348 is held at Northbrook Bank & Trust in the custody of the Company’s administrator, Opus
Fund Services.
Investments and related investment Income
Interest income is accrued based upon the outstanding principal amount and contractual interest terms
of debt investments. For investments with contractual payment-in-kind (“PIK”) interest, which
represents contractual interest accrued and added to the principal balance that generally becomes due
at maturity, the Company will not accrue PIK interest if the investment valuation indicates that the PIK
interest is not collectible. Interest income is presented net of servicing fees contractually incurred for
servicing for Platform Notes. For equity investments in limited liability companies with preferred
returns, which represents unrealized gains earned on the equity held, the Company will not accrue
unrealized gains if the investment valuation indicates that the preferred return is not collectible.
Investments are recorded on the date of binding commitment on a trade-date basis. Realized gains or
losses on investments are measured by the difference between the net proceeds from the disposition
and the cost basis of the investment, without regard to unrealized gains or losses previously recognized.
The Company reports current period changes in fair value of investments as a component of the net
change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on investments in the consolidated statement of
operations.
Due from Platforms
Due from Platforms represents net amounts receivable from Platforms in connection with the
Company’s purchase of Notes, collection of principal and interest on Notes, net of amounts due for
payment of servicing and other transaction fees to each of the Platforms. Critical to the Company’s
operations is its reliance on the Platforms for the collection and servicing of the Notes purchased from
the Platforms.
Fair value of financial instruments
The Company applies fair value to all of its financial instruments in accordance with ASC 820 - Fair Value
Measurement (“ASC 820”). ASC 820 defines fair value, establishes a framework used to measure fair
value and requires disclosures for fair value measurements. In accordance with ASC 820, the Company
has categorized its financial instruments carried at fair value, based on the priority of the valuation
technique, into a three-level fair value hierarchy. Fair value is a market-based measure considered from
the perspective of the market participant who holds the financial instrument rather than an entityspecific measure. Therefore, when market assumptions are not readily available, the Company's own
12

DLI Capital, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
assumptions are set to reflect those that management believes market participants would use in pricing
the financial instrument at the measurement date.
The availability of observable inputs can vary depending on the financial instrument and is affected by a
wide variety of factors, including, for example, the type of product, whether the product is new,
whether the product is traded on an active exchange or in the secondary market and the current market
conditions. To the extent that the valuation is based on models or inputs that are less observable or
unobservable in the market, the determination of fair value requires more judgment. Accordingly, the
degree of judgment exercised by the Company in determining fair value is greatest for financial
instruments classified as Level 3. See further description of fair value methodology in Note 3.
Dividends
Dividends to shareholders are recorded on the ex-dividend date. The amount paid is based upon
earnings estimated by management, monthly.
3. Investment Valuations and Fair Value Measurements
Fair Value – Definition and Hierarchy
In determining fair value, the Company uses GAAP, which establishes a hierarchy that prioritizes the
inputs used to measure fair value. Debt and equity securities that are not publicly traded or whose
market prices are not readily available are valued at fair value as determined in good faith by
management. The fair values are developed based on the best information available in the
circumstances, in the absence of an observable input. Investments are categorized based on the lowest
level of input significant to the fair value measurement, as follows:
Level 1 – The valuation is based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical
instruments.
Level 2 – The valuation is based on observable inputs such as quoted prices for similar
instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that
are not active, and model-based valuation techniques for which all significant inputs are
observable in the market.
Level 3 – The valuation is based on unobservable data used when there is little or no market
activity and reflects management’s own assumptions about how market participants would
price such assets. Level 3 valuations are typically performed using pricing models, discounted
cash flow or similar techniques.
Measurement of fair value using level 2 and level 3 inputs necessitates the use of estimates and
assumptions that are inherently subjective, and the values determined by management as a result of
13

DLI Capital, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3. Investment Valuations and Fair Value Measurements (continued)
using such inputs may differ significantly from the values that would have been used had observable
quotations in an active market existed, and the differences could be material. The level of input used for
valuing securities is not necessarily an indication of the risk associated with investing in those securities.
Fair Value – Valuation Processes
The Advisor is responsible for valuation policies and procedures and determining the fair value of the
investments. Such procedures are designed to assure that the applicable valuation approach is
appropriate and that values included in these financial statements that are based on unobservable
inputs are reasonable.
The Managing Member of the Advisor oversees the valuation process, which includes consultation with
internal valuation professionals and corroboration by third party valuation professionals on a quarterly
basis. The Managing Member of the Advisor reviews decisions and recommendations made by internal
valuation professionals, changes in fair value measurements and may, as considered appropriate,
update fair value guidelines to reflect available information.
Fair Value – Valuation Techniques and Inputs
The fair value of debt securities, which includes Platform Notes and asset-backed facilities, is
determined using an income approach. The income approach uses valuation techniques that measure
the net present value of anticipated future economic benefits (i.e. net cash flows). The estimated net
cash flows generally develop an estimate of future cash flows that are expected to occur over the life of
the contract based on investment-specific historical performance rates and default rates, loan to value
ratios for the facilities, and covenant compliance, including the timeliness of interest payments. The
default rate presented is an annualized, average estimate developed with respect to the Platform Notes
or the borrowing base for the asset backed facilities, based on contractual borrowing base eligibility
rules underlying each facility. Where a cash flow estimate is not used, other unobservable inputs may
be available, including recent transaction information.
The fair value of equity investments in limited liability companies is determined using the practical
expedient described in ASC 820-10-35-59 - Measuring the Fair Value of Investments in Certain Entities
That Calculate Net Asset Value per Share (or Its Equivalent). These entities, classified as investment
companies under ASC 946, own and manage a pool of collateral assets. Management reviews source
data for these positions, including monthly financial statements and collateral asset reports, as well as
ownership interests owned by the Company. Management also inspects the quality and performance of
the underlying assets on a regular basis to validate the asset value of those private companies.
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DLI Capital, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3. Investment Valuations and Fair Value Measurements (continued)
Fair Value Measurements
The Company’s investments are categorized as Level 3 investments. The following table provides a
reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances for all investments from commencement of
operations of the Company through December 31, 2016:
Beginning balance, October 1, 2016
Transfer from Direct Lending Income Fund, L.P.
(1)
Purchases
Principal payments
Net realized loss on investments
Net change in unrealized appreciation on investments
Ending balance, December 31, 2016

$

$

717,286,013
179,612,435
(86,842,485)
(9,368,981)
3,688,711
804,375,693

Net change in unrealized gain on investments still held at December 31, 2016
(1) Purchases include capitalized interest.

$

3,688,711

During the period from October 1, 2016 through December 31, 2016, there were no transfers between
Levels 1, 2 or 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
The following table summarizes the valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs used for
the Company’s investments at December 31, 2016:
Fair Value at
December 31,
2016
Assets
Debt
Investments

$ 243,990,609

Valuation
Technique

Significant Unobservable
Inputs

Income
approach

Default Rates
Loan to value ratio

(2)

Effective Interest Rate

(2)

Range of Inputs
(Weighted Average)
0% - 48.1% (6.65%)
90.43% - 98.47%
(97.85%)
16.20% - 18.67%
(16.67%)

287,494,873

Income
approach

Default Rates
(3)
Effective Interest Rate

0% - 19.70% (7.38%)
3.44% - 26.91%
(18.61%)

175,882,966

Recent
transactions

Principal remaining

N/A

$ 707,368,448
Equity Investments in
limited liability companies

97,007,245
$ 804,375,693

Investments valued using at net asset value
Total Investments in securities
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DLI Capital, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3. Investment Valuations and Fair Value Measurements (continued)
(2) Default rates of underlying collateral assets are annualized and monitored based on contractual terms of the
agreements.
(3) Effective interest rate is net of servicing fees and unrealized appreciation (depreciation) and is annualized.

4. Agreements and Related Party Transactions
The Company considers the Advisor, its principal owners, members of management and entities under
common control to be related parties to the Company. Amounts due from and due to related parties
are generally settled in the normal course of business.
Investment Management Agreement
On October 1, 2016, the Company entered into the Investment Management Agreement with the
Advisor. Under the terms of the Investment Management Agreement, the Advisor provides
management services to the Company. The management fee is calculated and payable monthly in
advance at the annual rate of 1% of the Company’s gross assets.
The Advisor also earns a performance fee each month, calculated as 20% monthly of the earnings before
interest and taxes, including management fee, attributable to each series of common shares, to the
extent that the net asset value of a series of shares of the Company exceeds the prior high net asset
value of the series, as defined in the Investment Management Agreement. If there is a net loss in any
month, the performance fee will not apply to future periods until such net loss has been recovered.
The Advisor may enter into agreements to reduce or waive management fees and performance fee on
the gross assets and earnings allocable to certain share classes of the Company and underlying investors
in the Feeder Funds.
During the period from October 1, 2016 through December 31, 2016, the Company incurred $1,973,897
in management fees and $4,322,731 in performance fees. Of these amounts, the Advisor voluntarily
waived management fees of $664,307 and performance fees of $1,158,708. At December 31, 2016, the
Company owed the Advisor $19,663 of management fees and $1,618,755 of performance fees.
Expense Limitation Agreement
The Advisor has agreed to pay any expenses of the Company, other than management fees,
performance fees or transaction expenses, to the extent that such expenses exceed 1% on an annual
basis or 0.0833% per month. To the extent the Advisor pays expenses of the Company pursuant to the
preceding sentence, the Advisor may recoup the amount it pays on behalf of the Company by charging
the Company 0.0833% per month for expenses in future months (even if the actual expenses for that
month are less than 0.0833%) until the Advisor has recovered from the Company all expenses previously
paid by the Advisor on the Company’s behalf. The Advisor may, at its sole discretion, modify or
eliminate this expense limitation at any time, provided that the Advisor gives the Feeder Funds and their
investors thirty (30) days advance notice before any change or elimination. “Transaction Expenses”
16
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4. Agreements and Related Party Transactions (continued)
consist of all amounts paid by the Company (a) to effect the purchase or sale of a specific investment,
including without limitation brokerage commissions, origination fees, servicing fees, clearing and
settlement charges or professional fees, and (b) all amounts paid by the Company in connection with
investments, including without limitation, interest, origination fees, points, or professional fees and (c)
any taxes paid by the Company. The Advisor has not paid any expenses on behalf of the Company and
was not entitled to any recoupment amount under the expense limitation agreement for the period
October 1, 2016 through December 31, 2016.
5. Debt
Effective October 1, 2016, the Company entered into loan and security agreements with each of its
Feeder Funds, whereby the Feeder Funds each provide a revolving credit facility, collateralized by the
assets of the Company, up to $2,000,000,000, which mature on September 30, 2021. The outstanding
principal balances are due in full at the maturity date. The facilities bear interest at 12% annually of the
daily principal balance outstanding, payable monthly, in arrears.
The principal balances outstanding at December 31, 2016 due to each of the Feeder Funds are
$610,905,452 payable to Direct Lending Income Fund, L.P. and $53,433,059 payable to Direct Lending
Income Feeder Fund, Ltd.
For the period of October 1, 2016 through December 31, 2016, the Company incurred $19,020,570 in
interest expense related to the facilities, of which $6,405,581 is payable to the Feeder Funds at
December 31, 2016.
6. Stockholders’ Equity
On October 1, 2016, the Company entered into security purchase agreements with the Feeder Funds,
providing for the private placement of the Company’s common stock. Under the terms of those security
purchase agreements, the Feeder Funds agreed to transfer, assign and convey substantially all of their
assets and liabilities to the Company, or a subsidiary of the Company, in exchange for note receivable in
an amount equal to 80% of the net assets transferred and the Company’s equity in an amount equal to
20% of the net assets transferred.
The Company has authorized and issued the following shares of common stock at December 31, 2016:
Class of Shares
Class D Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share
Class O Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share
Class S Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share
Total Shares Outstanding

Authorized
500,000,000
500,000,000
500,000,000

Issued
Outstanding
15,272,636.30 15,272,636.30
1,335,826.50 1,335,826.50
─
─
16,608,462.80 16,608,462.80
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6. Stockholders’ Equity (continued)
The Company has adopted a Multi-Class Plan under which the Company has committed to maintaining a
$10 per share purchase price by distributing earnings to stockholders monthly. During the period
October 1, 2016 through December 31, 2016, the Company recorded $875,783 in dividends to the
Feeder Funds. At December 31, 2016, the Company recorded $306,949 as dividends payable to the
Feeder Funds.
7. Income Taxes
The Company recorded federal income tax expense of $488,871 (35 percent effective tax rate) for the
period from October 1, 2016 (commencement of operations) through December 31, 2016. All dividends
paid during the period from October 1, 2016 through December 31, 2016 were paid as qualified income
distributions.
The Company records interest accrued and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax
expense. As of December 31, 2016, the Company had not accrued any interest or penalties related to
unrecognized tax benefits.
The Company recognizes the tax benefits of uncertain tax positions only when the position is more likely
than not to be sustained, assuming examination by tax authorities. Management has analyzed the
Company’s tax positions and concluded that no liability for unrecognized tax benefits should be
recorded related to uncertain tax positions expected to be taken on the Company’s 2016 tax returns.
The Company identifies its major tax jurisdictions as U.S. federal and Nevada State; however, the
Company is not aware of any tax positions for which it is reasonably possible that the total amounts of
unrecognized tax benefits will change materially in the next twelve months.
8. Commitments, Contingencies and Indemnifications
In the normal course of business, the Company enters into contracts which provide a variety of
representations and warranties, and that provide general indemnifications. Such contracts include those
with certain service providers and trading counterparties. Any exposure to the Company under these
arrangements is unknown as it would involve future claims that may be made against the Company;
however, based on the Company’s experience, the risk of loss is remote and no such claims are expected
to occur. As such, the Company has not accrued any liability in connection with such indemnifications.
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9. Financial Highlights
Below is the schedule of financial highlights of the Company for the period from October 1, 2016
(commencement of operations) through December 31, 2016. Financial highlights are calculated for each
permanent, non-managing class of shares. An individual shareholder’s financial highlights may vary
based on different financial arrangements such as management fees, performance fees and the timing
of capital transactions.
Class D
Per Share Data:
Net asset value, beginning of period
Income from investment operations:
Net investment income (loss)
Net realized and unrealized gains (losses) on investments
Net increase in net assets resulting from operations
Less dividends
Total increase (decrease) in net assets
Net asset value, end of period
(1)

Total Return
Shares outstanding, end of period
Ratio to average net assets:
(1)
Net investment Income
Operating expense
(3)
Performance fee
Total expenses

(2)

Class O

$ 10.00

$ 10.00

0.40
(0.35)
0.05
(0.05)
─
$ 10.00

0.57
(0.46)
0.11
(0.11)
─
$ 10.00

0.52%
15,272,636.30

0.77%
1,335,826.50

4.03%

5.69%

13.56%
1.99%
15.55%

12.58%
1.88%
14.46%

(1) Not annualized
(2) Not annualized. During the period, the Advisor voluntarily waived a portion of its management fee (equal to
0.41% of average net assets for Class D shares, 0.50% for Class O shares).
(3) Not annualized. During the period, the Advisor voluntarily waived a portion of its performance fee (equal to
0.72% of average net assets for class D shares, 0.90% for Class O shares).

10. Subsequent Events
For the period from January 1, 2017 through April 26, 2017, the Company paid $456,514 in dividends,
inclusive of the $306,949 of dividends payable at December 31, 2016.
Management has evaluated subsequent events through April 26, 2017, the date the financial statements
were available to be issued. Management has determined that there are no other material events that
would require adjustment to or disclosure in the Company’s financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To Direct Lending Income Fund, L.P.:
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Direct Lending Income Fund, L.P. (the
“Partnership”) which comprise the statement of assets, liabilities and partners’ capital as of December 31,
2017, and the related statements of operations, changes in partners’ capital, and cash flows for the year then
ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Partnership’s preparation and
fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Partnership’s
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Direct Lending Income Fund, L.P. as of December 31, 2017, and the results of its operations,
changes in its partners’ capital, and its cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

April 27, 2018

Direct Lending Income Fund, L.P.
Statement of Assets, Liabilities and Partners' Capital
As of December 31, 2017

Assets
Investment in DLI Capital, Inc.
Note receivable from DLI Capital, Inc.
Cash
Interest receivable
Other assets
Total Assets

$

Liabilities
Withdrawals payable
Distributions payable
Advance capital contributions
Due to DLI Capital, Inc.
Other liabilities
Total Liabilities
Partners' Capital

243,974,057
435,858,138
26,226,542
4,442,171
6,775
710,507,683

27,933,115
2,038,381
21,556,001
15,000
8,263
51,550,760
$

Refer to accompanying notes to financial statements and consolidated financial statements of DLI Capital, Inc.

658,956,923
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Direct Lending Income Fund, L.P.
Statement of Operations
Year ended December 31, 2017

Investment Income:
Interest income

$

72,525,188

Fund Expenses:
Fund administration fees
Professional fees
Custody fees
Legal fees
Other expenses
Total fund expenses
Net investment income

64,622
139,926
15,642
2,321
57,903
280,414
72,244,774

Net unrealized appreciation (depreciation) from investment in DLI Capital, Inc.:
Net change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) from investment in
DLI Capital, Inc.
Net increase in partners' capital resulting from operations

(2,253,742)
69,991,032

$

Refer to accompanying notes to financial statements and consolidated financial statements of DLI Capital, Inc.
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Direct Lending Income Fund, L.P.
Statement of Changes in Partners’ Capital
Year ended December 31, 2017

General
Partner
Increase in partners' capital from
operations:
Net investment income
Net change in unrealized appreciation
(depreciation) from investment in
DLI Capital, Inc.
Net increase in partners' capital resulting
from operations

$

Distributions to limited partners
Capital transactions:
Capital contributions
Capital withdrawals
Net decrease in partners' capital resulting
from capital transactions
Net increase (decrease) in partners' capital
Partners' Capital, beginning of the year
Partners' Capital, end of the year

$

1,379

Limited
Partners

$

72,243,395

Total

$

72,244,774

269

(2,254,011)

(2,253,742)

1,648

69,989,384

69,991,032

─

(29,348,626)

(29,348,626)

─
─

217,272,857
(351,209,655)

217,272,857
(351,209,655)

─
1,648

(133,936,798)
(93,296,040)

(133,936,798)
(93,294,392)

14,955
16,603

$

752,236,360
658,940,320

$

Refer to accompanying notes to financial statements and consolidated financial statements of DLI Capital, Inc.

752,251,315
658,956,923
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Direct Lending Income Fund, L.P.
Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended December 31, 2017

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net increase in partners' capital from operations
Adjustments to reconcile net increase in partners' capital from
operations to net cash used in operating activities:
Purchase of investments
Proceeds from investments
Net change in unrealized (appreciation) depreciation from investment in
DLI Capital, Inc.
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Decrease in Note receivable from DLI Capital, Inc.
Decrease in Interest receivable
Decrease in Dividend receivable
Increase in Other assets
Decrease in Taxes payable
Decrease in Due to DLI Capital, Inc.
Increase in Other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities

$

69,991,032

(171,544,196)
78,042,760
2,253,742
175,047,314
1,556,302
242,733
(6,775)
(819)
(71,041)
8,263
155,519,315

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from capital contributions
Change in advance capital contributions
Payments for capital withdrawals
Change in withdrawals payable
Payments for distributions
Change in distributions payable
Net cash used in financing activities

217,272,857
(5,693,222)
(351,209,655)
7,938,991
(29,348,626)
(74,103)
(161,113,758)

Net decrease in cash
Cash, beginning of the year
Cash, end of the year

$

(5,594,443)
31,820,985
26,226,542

Supplemental information:
Cash paid for withholding taxes

$

(998)

Refer to accompanying notes to financial statements and consolidated financial statements of DLI Capital, Inc.

8

Direct Lending Income Fund, L.P.
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2017

1. Organization and Basis of Presentation
Direct Lending Income Fund, L.P. (the "Partnership"), a Delaware investment limited partnership, was
organized on September 21, 2012 and commenced operations on November 1, 2012. The Partnership
was organized to operate as a private investment partnership.
On October 1, 2016, the Partnership invested into DLI Capital, Inc. (the “Master Fund”) via a subscription
in-kind, by assigning its investments and other assets into a subsidiary of the Master Fund in exchange
for a combination of the Master Fund’s debt and equity. The Master Fund is organized to invest directly
or indirectly in collateral assets, which may include short-term loans, lines of credit, receivables, real
estate loans, portfolios of loans, intellectual property interests, real estate assets, consumer and small
business loans and other tangible and intangible assets. The consolidated financial statements of the
Master Fund, including the consolidated condensed schedule of investments are attached to and should
be read in conjunction with the Partnership’s financial statements. The Partnership owned
approximately 76.8% of the Master Fund at December 31, 2017.
Direct Lending Investments, LLC, a related party, serves as the general partner and investment manager
(the “General Partner”) of the Partnership. The General Partner is registered as an investment advisor
with the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940.
Opus Fund Services (Bermuda) Ltd. serves as the Partnership’s administrator providing administrative
and record keeping services.
Basis of Presentation
The financial statements have been prepared in conformity with the accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). The Partnership is an investment company and
follows the accounting and reporting guidance in Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”)
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 946. The financial statements have been presented in U.S.
Dollars.
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions in determining the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, including the
fair value of investments, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of income and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates and those differences could be material.

Refer to accompanying consolidated financial statements of DLI Capital, Inc.
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Direct Lending Income Fund, L.P.
Notes to Financial Statements

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Cash
Cash consists of cash at financial institutions. Cash includes $21.6 million of deposits representing
advanced capital contributions held at Northbrook Bank & Trust in the custody of the Partnership’s
administrator, Opus Fund Services.
Note Receivable
Effective October 1, 2016, the Partnership entered into a loan and security agreement with the Master
Fund, whereby the Partnership provides a revolving credit facility, collateralized by the assets of the
Master Fund, up to $2,000,000,000. The facility earns interest at 12% annually of the principal balance
outstanding, receivable monthly, in arrears. The facility matures on September 30, 2021, and all
obligations due on the note are due in full on that date.
The principal balance outstanding at December 31, 2017 is $435,858,138. For the year ended December
31, 2017, the Partnership earned $72,525,188 in interest income, of which $4,442,171 is receivable as of
December 31, 2017.
Income from Equity
The Partnership owns equity shares issued by the Master Fund, and thus is eligible to receive dividends
from net income, when declared by the Master Fund. Dividend income is recognized on the ex-dividend
date and comprises the Partnership’s allocable portion of net earnings of the Master Fund. No dividend
income was earned from the Master Fund for the year ended December 31, 2017.
To the extent that the Master Fund records a net loss in a tax period, the Master Fund records a reverse
stock split to reduce the shares owned by the Partnership such that the net asset value per share is
equal to $10. The Partnership records a change in unrealized depreciation equal to its proportion of the
net loss recorded by the Master Fund. For the year ended December 31, 2017, the Partnership recorded
a change in unrealized depreciation of $2,253,742.
Valuation of Investment in DLI Capital, Inc.
The Partnership records its investment in the Master Fund at its proportionate share of equity of the
Master Fund. Valuation of investments held by the Master Fund, including, but not limited to, the
valuation techniques used and categorization within the fair value hierarchy of investments, are
discussed in the notes to the Master Fund’s consolidated financial statements, included elsewhere in
this report.
Income Taxes
The Partnership does not record a provision for US federal, US state, or local income taxes because the
partners report their share of the Fund’s income or loss on their income tax returns. However, certain
dividend income may be subject to a maximum 30% withholding tax for limited partners that are foreign
Refer to accompanying consolidated financial statements of DLI Capital, Inc.
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Direct Lending Income Fund, L.P.
Notes to Financial Statements

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
entities or foreign individuals. Tax laws are complex and subject to different interpretations by the
taxpayer and taxing authorities. Significant judgment is required when evaluating tax positions and
related uncertainties. The Partnership files an income tax return in the US federal jurisdiction, as well as
in various US states. Future events such as changes in tax legislation could require a provision for income
taxes and any such changes could significantly affect amounts reported in the statement of operations.
The Partnership is subject to potential examination by taxing authorities in various jurisdictions. The
open tax years under potential examination vary by jurisdiction.
The Partnership is required to determine whether its tax positions are “more-likely-than-not” to be
sustained upon examination by the applicable taxing authority, based on the technical merits of the
position. Tax positions not deemed to meet a “more-likely-than-not” threshold would be recorded as a
tax expense in the current year. As of December 31, 2017, there was no impact to the financial
statements relating to accounting for uncertainty in income taxes.
3. Partnership Terms

Contributions
The minimum initial capital contribution by investors (“Limited Partners”) to the Partnership is
$250,000, subject to the General Partner’s sole discretion to accept subscriptions for lesser amounts.
The General Partner may elect to temporarily or permanently suspend the offering of Partnership
interests. Additionally, the General Partner may reject any subscription request for any reason or no
reason. The Partnership may accept such amounts as of the first business day of any calendar month, or
at such other times as the General Partner may permit.
Contributions received in advance of the effective date are recorded as advance capital contributions on
the Statement of Partner’s Capital. At December 31, 2017, advance capital contributions totaled $21.6
million.
Withdrawals
Limited Partners may generally request to withdraw all or a portion of the balance in their capital
account as of the end of any calendar month (a “Withdrawal”), provided that the Partnership receives at
least 35 days prior written notice of such withdrawal. There is no minimum duration or “lock-up” period
for investments in the Partnership. The General Partner expects in normal circumstances that payments
for Withdrawals will generally be paid within 30 days of the effective withdrawal date (except to the
extent of any unrealized side pocket investments); however, if sufficient cash is not available to
accommodate all withdrawal requests, the General Partner will allocate a pro rata share of cash
available for withdrawals, based on the relative net asset value of the capital accounts held by all limited
partners requesting withdrawal, in each calendar month to each limited partner requesting a
withdrawal until the request is paid in full. Withdrawals payable to Limited Partners at December 31,
2017 was $27.9 million.

Refer to accompanying consolidated financial statements of DLI Capital, Inc.
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Direct Lending Income Fund, L.P.
Notes to Financial Statements

3. Partnership Terms (continued)

Distributions
Limited Partners in the Partnership may elect to receive periodic monthly distributions equal to the
amount of net profits allocated to the Limited Partner’s Capital Account for the month. Limited Partners
may make the election at the time they initially subscribe to invest in the Partnership and may change
their election at any time, provided that any change to an election will only be given effect for a
calendar month if it is received at least 20 days before the end of the month. The distributions will
generally be paid within 30 days after the end of each calendar month. All periodic monthly distributions
are subject to availability of cash to fund such distributions. The amount due to the Limited Partners for
distributions as of December 31, 2017 was $2 million.
4. Allocation of Profit and Loss and Related Party Transactions
At the end of each month, any net profit or loss is allocated to the capital accounts of all Partners in
proportion to their respective ownership of the debt and equity of the Master Fund. Expenses incurred
by the Partnership are generally allocated based on each Partner’s proportionate ownership of the
Partnership.
The Master Fund pays the General Partner a management fee calculated and payable each month in
advance, to be paid at an annual rate of 1% of the Master Fund’s gross assets attributable to the
Partnership, as described in the financial statements of the Master Fund, which are an integral part of
these financial statements.
The Master Fund pays the General Partner a performance fee, payable on a monthly basis, which is
generally equal to 20% of allocated earnings before interest and taxes, on behalf of each limited partner
of the Partnership, when the limited partner’s net asset value exceeds the prior high net asset value.
For the year ended December 31, 2017, the Master Fund incurred $7,506,165 in management fees, net
of $527,645 of management fees waived by the General Partner, and $16,224,741 in performance fees
on behalf of the Partnership.
The General Partner may enter into agreements with certain Limited Partners that will result in different
terms of an investment in the Partnership than the terms applicable to other Limited Partners. As a
result of such agreements, certain Limited Partners may receive lower Management fee rates or
Performance fees. The General Partner is not required to notify the other Limited Partners of any such
agreement or any of the rights and/or terms or provisions thereof, nor is the General Partner required
to offer such additional and/or different terms or rights to any other Limited Partner. The General
Partner may enter into any such agreement with any Limited Partner at any time in its sole discretion.
Members of the General Partner and affiliated persons and other related parties have individual limited
partner capital accounts totaling approximately $3.6 million at December 31, 2017.

Refer to accompanying consolidated financial statements of DLI Capital, Inc.

12

Direct Lending Income Fund, L.P.
Notes to Financial Statements

5. Commitments, Contingencies and Indemnifications
In the normal course of business, the Partnership enters into contracts with third parties, including
without limitation certain service providers, which incorporate a variety of representations, warranties,
and general indemnification obligations. Any exposure to the Partnership under these arrangements is
unknown as it would involve future claims that may be made against the Partnership; however, based
on the Partnership’s historical experience, the risk of loss is remote. As such, the Partnership has not
accrued any liability in connection with such contingent obligations.
6. Financial Highlights
Financial highlights for the year ended December 31, 2017 are as follows:
Total return
Ratios to average limited partners’ capital:
Net investment income
Expenses (including the Partnership’s proportionate share of expenses
from the Master Fund(1))

8.92

%

8.77
0.67

%

(1)

During the year, the General Partner voluntarily waived a portion of its management fee, representing
an amount equal to 0.06% of the Partnership’s proportionate share of expenses from the Master Fund
as a ratio to the Partnership’s average limited partners’ capital.

An individual partner’s performance may vary based on different financial arrangements such as
management fee, performance allocation/fees and the timing of capital transactions.
Total return is computed based on the change in the Limited Partners’ capital accounts taken as a whole
during the period, adjusted for capital contributions and withdrawals.
7. Subsequent Events
For the period from January 1, 2018 through April 27, 2018, the Partnership accepted capital
contributions of approximately $71.2 million inclusive of the contributions made in advance of $21.6
million at December 31, 2017. During the period January 1, 2018 through April 27, 2018, capital
withdrawals by limited partners and distributions to limited partners totaled $108.7 million.
Management has evaluated subsequent events through April 27, 2018, the date the financial statements
were available to be issued. Management has determined that there are no other material events that
would require adjustment to or disclosure in the Partnership’s financial statements.

Refer to accompanying consolidated financial statements of DLI Capital, Inc.
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Deloitte.

Deloitte & Touche LLP
555 Mission Street
Suite 1400
San Francisco, CA 94105
USA
Tel:+1 415 783 4000
www.deloitte.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To DLI Capital, Inc. and Subsidiaries:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the DLI Capital, Inc. and
Subsidiaries (the “Company”) which comprise the consolidated statement of assets and liabilities, including
the consolidated condensed schedule of investments, as of December 31, 2017, and the related consolidated
statements of operations, changes in net assets, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes
to the consolidated financial statements.
Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America;
this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Company’s preparation and
fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of DLI Capital, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2017, and the results of its
operations, changes in its net assets, and its cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

April 27, 2018

DLI Capital, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statement of Assets and Liabilities
As of December 31, 2017

Assets
Investments at fair value (cost $817,698,737)
Cash
Due from counterparties, net
Interest receivable
Prepaid assets
Due from Feeder Funds
Taxes receivable
Deferred tax asset
Total Assets

$

Liabilities
Interest payable
Management fees payable
Performance fees payable
Legal fees payable
Other liabilities
Debt
Total Liabilities

819,274,968
52,862,636
9,003,715
11,377,164
251,577
30,000
774,586
199,468
893,774,114

5,785,306
81,395
1,404,281
504,541
740,955
567,644,223
576,160,701

Commitments and contingencies (Note 8)
Net Assets

Refer to accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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DLI Capital, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Condensed Schedule of Investments
As of December 31, 2017

Principal /
Cost

Investments, at fair value(1)
Debt investments
Asset‐backed facilities
Auto warranty finance
Origin SPE, LLC, due May 2022

Fair Value

31,482,823

9.9

Financials
Capstone Business Funding, LLC, due Aug. 2020
Kountable Borrower, LLC, due Jan. 2022
Liftforward SPV III, LLC, due May 2022
Total Financials

49,558,098
2,049,309
24,552,000
76,159,407

15.6
0.7
7.7
24.0

49,558,098
2,049,309
24,552,000
76,159,407

Intangible assets
Global Innovation Aggregators, LLC, due May 2022

34,010,000

10.7

34,010,000

47,039,104
25,636,228
58,460,109
131,135,441

14.8
8.1
18.4
41.3

47,039,104
25,636,228
58,460,109
131,135,441

180,396,984
453,184,655

56.8
142.7

180,396,984
453,184,655

Corporate term loans
Financials
FPP Sandbox, LLC ‐ InMobi, due Jun. 2018
LendingUSA, LLC, due Dec. 2019
Total Financials

4,000,000
28,594,584
32,594,584

1.3
9.0
10.3

4,000,000
28,594,584
32,594,584

Other
Morrison Oil, LLC, due Jun. 2019
The Mane Choice Hair Solution LLC, due Aug. 2019
Walsh Electrical Contracting Inc., due Oct. 2018
Total Other
Total Corporate term loans

2,999,680
2,120,000
9,547,617
14,667,297
47,261,881

0.9
0.7
1.9
3.5
13.8

2,999,680
2,120,000
6,176,917
11,296,597
43,891,181

24,541,791
56,223,450

5.5
15.8

17,313,963
50,014,245

36,495,922
117,261,163

10.7
32.0

34,039,017
101,367,225

Real estate
DLI Properties, LLC, due Jul. 2020
Indigo‐DLI Holdings I, LLC, due Dec. 2021
Liberty Fund, LLC, due May 2021
Total Real estate
Telecommunications
VoIP Guardian Partners I, LLC, due Sept. 2020
Total Asset‐backed facilities

Whole loans (2)
Small business
Dealstruck Funding 3, LLC
QuarterSpot, Inc.
Consumer
LoanHero, LLC
Total Whole loans

$

Percentage of
Net Assets

Refer to accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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DLI Capital, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Condensed Schedule of Investments
As of December 31, 2017

Principal /
Cost

Investments, at fair value(1) (continued)
Real estate loans (2)
BayPoint Capital Partners, LP
Biz2credit, Inc. ‐ Commercial Real Estate
Realty Mogul, Co.
Total Real estate loans

Fair Value

27,731,266
1,400,000
1,345,000
30,476,266

8.7
0.4
0.4
9.5

Receivables (2)
Financials
Biz2credit, Inc.
Total Debt investments

22,892,588
671,076,553

6.0
204.0

19,070,254
647,949,581

Equity interests in limited liability companies
Consumer financials
LCUSA Funding, LLC

138,000,000

51.3

162,813,781

Real estate
OLP‐Sequoia Funding SPV1, LLC
Total Equity interests in limited liability companies

8,622,184
146,622,184

2.7
54.0

8,511,606
171,325,387

817,698,737

258.0

Total Investments, at fair value

$

Percentage of
Net Assets

$

%

%

$

$

27,731,266
1,400,000
1,305,000
30,436,266

819,274,968

Footnotes
(1): All investments are in the United States.
(2): These positions reflect a financing arrangement whereby the Company acquires from its Counterparty interest in loans or
other obligations originated by such Counterparty, where said Counterparty generally does not bear meaningful balance sheet
exposure for the loans or other obligations it originates. The investment is comprised of a pool of Collateral Assets, with none
greater than 5% of Net Assets.

Refer to accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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DLI Capital, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statement of Operations
Year ended December 31, 2017

Investment Income:
Interest income
Expenses:
Interest expense
Management fees
Performance fees
Legal fees
Professional fees
Due diligence and deal expenses
Custody fees
Fund administration fees
Other expenses
Total expenses
Management fees waived (Note 4)
Net expenses
Net investment income before provision for taxes
Net tax benefit
Net investment income after provision for taxes

$

133,267,871

85,040,864
9,360,175
19,232,510
1,694,173
1,211,244
1,103,243
438,961
391,765
857,667
119,330,602
(592,788)
118,737,814
14,530,057
684,566
15,214,623

Net realized gain (loss) and unrealized appreciation (depreciation) from investments:
Net realized gain (loss) from investments
(19,443,647)
Net change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) from investments
1,627,207
Net realized and unrealized loss from investments
(17,816,440)
Net decrease in net assets resulting from operations
$
(2,601,817)

Refer to accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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DLI Capital, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Assets
Year ended December 31, 2017

Increase (decrease) in net assets resulting from operations:
Net investment income
Net realized loss from investments
Net change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) from investments
Net decrease in net assets resulting from operations

$

15,214,623
(19,443,647)
1,627,207
(2,601,817)

Capital transactions:
Issuance of common stock
Redemptions and cancellations of common stock
Net increase in net assets resulting from capital transactions

241,416,064
(87,285,462)
154,130,602

Total increase in net assets
Net assets, beginning of the year
Net assets, end of the year

151,528,785
166,084,628
317,613,413

Changes in Capital Shares
Common stock, beginning of the year
Issuance of common stock
Redemptions and cancellations of common stock
Common stock, end of the year

Refer to accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

$

16,608,463
24,141,606
(8,988,728)
31,761,341
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DLI Capital, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended December 31, 2017

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net decrease in net assets resulting from operations
Adjustments to reconcile net decrease in net assets resulting
from operations to net cash used in operating activities:
Purchases of investments
Proceeds from sales of investments and principal repayments
Net realized loss from investments
Net change in unrealized (appreciation) depreciation from investments
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Decrease in Due from Counterparties
Increase in Interest receivable
Decrease in Prepaid assets
Increase in Due from Feeder Funds
Increase in Taxes receivable
Increase in Deferred tax assets
Decrease in Other assets
Decrease in Interest payable
Increase in Management fees payable
Decrease in Performance fees payable
Decrease in Loan servicing fees payable
Increase in Legal fees payable
Decrease in Taxes payable
Increase in Other liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities

$

(734,472,413)
701,756,698
19,443,647
(1,627,207)
3,422,456
(3,166,899)
528,441
(30,000)
(774,586)
(199,468)
86,041
(620,275)
61,732
(214,474)
(228,933)
504,541
(520,659)
193,133
(18,460,042)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock
Repayments from redemption of common stock
Dividends paid
Proceeds from borrowings on debt
Repayments of borrowings on debt
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase in cash
Cash, beginning of the year
Cash, end of the year
Supplemental information and non‐cash financing activities:
Cash paid for interest expense
Cash paid for income and withholding taxes
Non‐cash issuance of common stock
Non‐cash debt repayments
Refer to accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

(2,601,817)

241,416,064
(87,285,462)
(306,949)
300,794,460
(397,488,748)
57,129,365

$
$

38,669,323
14,193,313
52,862,636
(85,661,139)
(227,233)
19,330,000
(19,330,000)
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DLI Capital, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2017

1. Organization and Basis of Presentation

DLI Capital, Inc. (the "Company"), a Nevada corporation, was organized on June 22, 2016 and
commenced operations on October 1, 2016. The Company was organized through a master‐feeder
structure whereby the Company serves as the master fund and offers debt and equity to its two feeder
funds, Direct Lending Income Fund, L.P. and Direct Lending Income Feeder Fund, Ltd. (collectively, the
“Feeder Funds”). Effective October 1, 2016, the Feeder Funds each invested substantially all of their
assets into the Company in exchange for a combination of debt and equity of the Company. This
transaction included the pre‐existing operations and assets of Direct Lending Income Fund, L.P.
The Company is managed by Direct Lending Investments, LLC (the “Advisor”), an investment advisor that
is registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) under the Investment Advisers
Act of 1940, as amended. The Advisor directs and executes the investment operations of the Company.
On June 22, 2016, the Company formed DLI Capital Partner, Inc., a Nevada corporation (“Capital
Partner”) as a wholly‐owned subsidiary. This subsidiary owns a 0.01% interest in each of DLI Assets, LLC
and DLI Assets Bravo, LLC. DLI Assets, LLC (“Assets”), a Nevada limited liability company, was formed on
June 10, 2016. DLI Assets Bravo, LLC (“Bravo”), a Nevada limited liability company, was formed on
September 15, 2016. The Company owns a 99.99% interest in each of the entities, Assets and Bravo.
Assets and Bravo own the investment assets within the structure. The financial statements of Capital
Partner, Assets and Bravo are consolidated into the financial statements of the Company. All
intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.
The objective of the Company is to generate current income through opportunistic investments across
the credit markets, including without limitation through investments in counterparties holding or
originating collateral assets (hereafter, the “Counterparties”, and each a “Counterparty”). Such collateral
assets may include short‐term loans, lines of credit, receivables, real estate loans, portfolios of loans,
intellectual property interests, real estate assets, consumer and small business loans and other tangible
and intangible assets (hereafter, the “Collateral Assets”).
Basis of Presentation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with the accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). The Company is an investment company
and follows the accounting and reporting guidance in Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”)
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 946. The consolidated financial statements have been
presented in U.S. Dollars.
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DLI Capital, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to
make estimates and assumptions in determining the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, including
the fair value of investments, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of income and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates and those differences could be
material.
Cash
Cash consists of cash at major financial institutions. Cash includes $52,422,042 held at Wells Fargo Bank,
N.A. in the custody of the Company’s custodian, Millennium Trust Company. Additional cash balances of
$440,594 are held at Northbrook Bank & Trust in the custody of the Company’s administrator, Opus
Fund Services.
Investments and related investment Income
Interest income is accrued based upon the outstanding principal amount and contractual interest terms
of debt investments. For investments with contractual payment‐in‐kind (“PIK”) interest, which
represents contractual interest accrued and added to the principal balance that generally becomes due
at maturity, the Company will not accrue PIK interest if the investment valuation indicates that the PIK
interest is not collectible. Interest income is presented net of servicing fees contractually incurred for
servicing Collateral Assets.
For equity investments in limited liability companies with preferred returns, which represent unrealized
gains earned on the equity held, the Company will not record unrealized gains if the investment
valuation indicates that the face value of the investment and the preferred return are not collectible.
Investments are recorded on the date of binding commitment on a trade‐date basis. Realized gains or
losses on investments are measured by the difference between the net proceeds from the disposition
and the cost basis of the investment, without regard to unrealized gains or losses previously recognized.
The Company reports current year changes in fair value of investments as a component of the net
change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on investments in the consolidated statement of
operations.
Due from Counterparties
Due from Counterparties represents net amounts receivable from Counterparties in connection with the
Company’s purchase of Collateral Assets and collection of principal on Collateral Assets.
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DLI Capital, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Fair value of financial instruments
The Company applies fair value to its financial instruments in accordance with ASC 820 ‐ Fair Value
Measurement (“ASC 820”). ASC 820 defines fair value, establishes a framework used to measure fair
value and requires disclosures for fair value measurements. In accordance with ASC 820, the Company
has categorized its financial instruments carried at fair value, based on the priority of the valuation
technique, into a three‐level fair value hierarchy. Fair value is a market‐based measure considered from
the perspective of the market participant who holds the financial instrument rather than an entity‐
specific measure. Therefore, when market assumptions are not readily available, the Company's own
assumptions are set to reflect those that management believes market participants would use in pricing
the financial instrument at the measurement date.
The availability of observable inputs can vary depending on the financial instrument and is affected by a
wide variety of factors, including, for example, the type of product, whether the product is traded on an
active exchange or in the secondary market and the current market conditions. To the extent that the
valuation is based on models or inputs that are less observable or unobservable in the market, the
determination of fair value requires more subjective judgment. Accordingly, the degree of subjective
judgment exercised by the Company in determining fair value is greatest for financial instruments
classified as Level 3. See further description of fair value methodology in Note 3.
Dividends
Dividends and distributions to shareholders are recorded on the ex‐dividend date. The amount paid is
based upon earnings estimated by management, monthly. No dividends were recorded in fiscal year
2017.
3. Investment Valuations and Fair Value Measurements
Fair Value – Definition and Hierarchy
In determining fair value, the Company uses GAAP, which establishes a hierarchy that prioritizes the
inputs used to measure fair value. Debt and equity securities that are not publicly traded or whose
market prices are not readily available are valued at fair value as determined in good faith by
management. The fair values are developed based on the best information available in the
circumstances, in the absence of an observable input. Investments are categorized based on the lowest
level of input significant to the fair value measurement, as follows:
Level 1 – The valuation is based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical
instruments.
Level 2 – The valuation is based on observable inputs such as quoted prices for similar
instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3. Investment Valuations and Fair Value Measurements (continued)
are not active, and model‐based valuation techniques for which all significant inputs are
observable in the market.
Level 3 – The valuation is based on unobservable data used when there is little or no market
activity and reflects management’s own assumptions about how market participants would
price such assets. Level 3 valuations are typically performed using pricing models, discounted
cash flow or similar techniques.
Measurement of fair value using level 2 and level 3 inputs necessitates the use of estimates and
assumptions that are inherently subjective, and the values determined by management as a result of
using such inputs may differ significantly from the values that would have been used had observable
quotations in an active market existed, and the differences could be material. The level of input used for
valuing securities is not necessarily an indication of the risk associated with investing in those securities.
Fair Value – Valuation Processes
The Advisor is responsible for valuation policies and procedures and determining the fair value of the
investments and has designated a valuation committee to oversee the valuation process. The valuation
committee is comprised of three voting members, each an executive of the Advisor, and each month,
the committee approves the valuation for each investment. The valuation process includes consultation
with internal professionals and corroboration by third party valuation professionals on a quarterly basis.
The valuation committee reviews decisions and recommendations made by internal professionals,
changes in fair value measurements and may, as considered appropriate, update fair value guidelines to
reflect available information.
Fair Value – Valuation Techniques and Inputs
The fair value of debt securities, which includes direct ownership of Collateral Assets and asset‐backed
facilities, is determined using an income approach. The income approach uses valuation techniques that
measure the net present value of anticipated future economic benefits (i.e. net cash flows). The
estimated net cash flows generally develop an estimate of future cash flows that are expected to occur
over the life of the contract based on investment‐specific historical performance rates and default rates,
loan to value ratios for the facilities, and covenant compliance, including the timeliness of interest
payments. The discount rate presented is an annualized, average estimate developed with respect to
the Collateral Assets or the borrowing base for the asset backed facilities, based on contractual
borrowing base eligibility rules underlying each facility. Where a cash flow estimate is not used, other
unobservable inputs may be available, including recent transaction information.
The fair value of equity investments in limited liability companies is determined using the practical
expedient described in ASC 820‐10‐35‐59 ‐ Measuring the Fair Value of Investments in Certain Entities
That Calculate Net Asset Value per Share (or Its Equivalent). These entities, classified as investment
companies under ASC 946, own and manage a pool of Collateral Assets. Management reviews source
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3. Investment Valuations and Fair Value Measurements (continued)
data for these positions, including monthly financial statements and collateral asset reports, as well as
ownership interests owned by the Company. Management also inspects the quality and performance of
the underlying Collateral Assets on a regular basis to validate the asset value of those limited liability
companies.
Fair Value Measurements
The Company’s debt investments are categorized as Level 3 investments. The following table provides a
reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances for all investments for the year ended December 31,
2017:
Asset‐backed
facilities

Corporate
term loans

Whole loans

Real estate
loans
Receivables

Beginning balance,
January 1, 2017
$ 381,289,351
38,155,368 205,717,957 32,000,484 50,205,289
Purchases, including capitalized
interest
355,880,464
48,771,625 153,479,263 34,177,524 17,452,920
Principal payments
(283,985,160) (39,665,112) (228,387,633) (35,741,742) (45,067,950)
Net realized loss on investments
─
─ (18,823,441)
‐
(620,206)
Net change in unrealized
depreciation on investments
─
(3,370,700) (10,618,921)
‐ (2,899,799)
Ending balance,
December 31, 2017
$ 453,184,655
43,891,181 101,367,225 30,436,266 19,070,254
Equity investments in limited liability companies
Total Investments, December 31, 2017

Total Debt
investments
$ 707,368,449
609,761,796
(632,847,567)
(19,443,647)
(16,889,420)
$ 647,949,581
171,325,387
$ 819,274,968

The net change in unrealized depreciation on debt investments still held at December 31, 2017 is
$(17,646,896).
The Company transfers investments in and out of Level 1, 2 or 3 as of the beginning balance sheet date,
based on changes in the use of observable and unobservable inputs utilized to perform the valuation for
the period. During the year ended December 31, 2017, there were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 or 3
of the fair value hierarchy.
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3. Investment Valuations and Fair Value Measurements (continued)
The following table summarizes the valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs used for
the Company’s investments at December 31, 2017:

Assets

Debt investments
Asset‐backed facilities
Corporate term loans

Whole loans
Real estate loans
Receivables
Equity interests in limited
liability companies

(1)

Fair Value at
December 31,
2017

Significant Unobservable
Inputs

Range of Inputs
(Weighted Average)

Income approach

Loan to value ratio
Effective interest rate (1)

59.9% ‐ 100% (90.8%)
14.8% ‐ 28.3% (16.6%)

37,714,264
6,176,917

Income approach
Estimated recovery

Discount rate
Net realizable value of
Collateral Assets

16.3% ‐ 18.6% (16.6%)
85.0% (85.0%)

101,367,225

Income approach

Discount rate

17.4% ‐ 23.7% (20.7%)

29,131,266
1,305,000

Income approach
Estimated recovery

Effective interest rate (1)
Recent appraisals

12.5% ‐ 21.8% (21.3%)
N/A

Income approach

Discount rate

14.5% (14.5%)

$ 453,184,655

19,070,254
$ 647,949,581
171,325,387
$ 819,274,968

Valuation Technique

Investments valued using net asset value as a practical expedient
Total Investments in securities

Effective interest rate is calculated as the monthly interest income net of servicing fees and any impairments, as applicable, and
is annualized.

4. Agreements and Related Party Transactions
The Company considers the Advisor, its principal owner, members of management and entities under
common control to be related parties to the Company. Amounts due from and due to related parties
are generally settled in the normal course of business.
Investment Management Agreement
The Company has entered into an investment management agreement with the Advisor. Under the
terms of that agreement, the Advisor provides management services to the Company. The management
fee is calculated and payable monthly in advance at the annual rate of 1% of the Company’s gross
assets.
The Advisor also earns a performance fee each month, calculated as 20% monthly of the earnings before
interest and taxes, including management fee, attributable to each series of common shares, to the
extent that the net asset value of a series of shares of the Company exceeds the prior high net asset
value of the series, as defined in the Investment Management Agreement. If there is a net loss in any
month, the performance fee will not apply to future periods until such net loss has been recovered.
16

DLI Capital, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

4. Agreements and Related Party Transactions (continued)
The Advisor may enter into agreements to reduce or waive management fees and performance fees on
the gross assets and earnings allocable to certain share classes of the Company and underlying investors
in the Feeder Funds.
For the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company incurred $9,360,175 in management fees and
$19,232,510 in performance fees. Of these amounts, the Advisor voluntarily waived management fees
of $592,788. At December 31, 2017, the Company owed the Advisor $81,395 of management fees and
$1,404,281 of performance fees.
Expense Limitation Agreement
The Advisor has agreed to pay any expenses of the Company, other than management fees,
performance fees or Transaction Expenses (as defined below), to the extent that such expenses exceed
1% on an annual basis or 0.0833% per month. To the extent the Advisor pays expenses of the Company
pursuant to the preceding sentence, the Advisor may recoup the amount it pays on behalf of the
Company by charging the Company 0.0833% per month for expenses in future months (even if the
actual expenses for that month are less than 0.0833%) until the Advisor has recovered from the
Company all expenses previously paid by the Advisor on the Company’s behalf. The Advisor may, at its
sole discretion, modify or eliminate this expense limitation at any time, provided that the Advisor gives
the Feeder Funds and their investors thirty (30) days advance notice before any change or elimination.
“Transaction Expenses” consist of all amounts paid by the Company (a) to effect the purchase or sale of
a specific investment, including without limitation brokerage commissions, origination fees, servicing
fees, clearing and settlement charges or professional fees, and (b) all amounts paid by the Company in
connection with investments, including without limitation, interest, origination fees, points, or
professional fees and (c) any taxes paid by the Company. The Advisor has not paid any expenses on
behalf of the Company pursuant to this agreement and was not entitled to any recoupment amount
under the expense limitation agreement for the year ended December 31, 2017.
5. Debt
On October 1, 2016, the Company entered into loan and security agreements with each of its Feeder
Funds, whereby the Feeder Funds each provide a revolving credit facility, collateralized by the assets of
the Company, up to $2,000,000,000, which mature on September 30, 2021. The outstanding principal
balances are due in full at the maturity date. The facilities bear interest at 12% annually of the principal
balance outstanding, payable monthly, in arrears.
The principal balances outstanding at December 31, 2017 due to each of the Feeder Funds are
$435,858,138 payable to Direct Lending Income Fund, L.P. and $131,786,085 payable to Direct Lending
Income Feeder Fund, Ltd. For the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company incurred $85,040,864 in
interest expense related to the facilities, of which $5,785,306 is payable to the Feeder Funds at
December 31, 2017.
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6. Stockholders’ Equity
On October 1, 2016, the Company adopted a Multiple Class Plan (the “Plan”) under which the Company
issues three classes of stock: Class D, Class O and Class S common stock, which have equal rights to
assets of the Company, except that Class D common stock is entitled to one vote per share, and Class O
common stock and Class S common stock are not entitled to vote. Class D common stock is exclusively
issued to Direct Lending Income Fund, L.P. and Class O common stock is exclusively issued to Direct
Lending Income Feeder Fund, Ltd.
The Company has authorized and issued the following shares of common stock at December 31, 2017:
Class of shares
Class D Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share
Class O Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share
Class S Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share
Total Shares Outstanding

Authorized
500,000,000
500,000,000
500,000,000

Issued
29,436,714.76
7,801,208.93
3,512,145.57
40,750,069.26

Outstanding
24,397,405.70
7,363,935.63
─
31,761,341.33

Transactions in common stock shares during the year ended December 31, 2017 were as follows:

Shares
Class D
Class O
Class S
Total Shares

Beginning
balance

Issuance of
common stock

Redemptions
and cancellations
of common stock

Ending balance

15,272,636.30
1,335,826.50
─
16,608,462.80

14,164,078.46
6,465,382.43
3,512,145.57
24,141,606.46

(5,039,309.06)
(437,273.30)
(3,512,145.57)
(8,988,727.93)

24,397,405.70
7,363,935.63
─
31,761,341.33

Amount
Class D
Class O
Class S
Total Amounts

$ 152,726,363
13,358,265
─
$ 166,084,628

$ 141,640,785
64,653,824
35,121,456
$ 241,416,065

$ (50,393,091)
(4,372,733)
(35,121,456)
$ (89,887,280)

$ 243,974,057
73,639,356
─
$ 317,613,413

The Plan dictates that the Company shall maintain a $10 per share purchase price by distributing
earnings to stockholders or cancelling shares through a reverse stock split in the event of a net loss,
monthly. For the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company recorded a total net loss of $2,601,817,
paid $172,696 in return of capital distributions and cancelled 277,451.37 shares.
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7. Income Taxes
The Company accounts for income taxed under the asset and liability method, which requires the
recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that
have been included in the consolidated financial statements. Under this method, the Company
determines deferred tax assets and liabilities on the basis of the differences between the financial
statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities by using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which
the differences are expected to reverse. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and
liabilities is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.
The Company recognizes deferred tax assets to the extent that management believes that these assets
are more likely than not to be realized. In making such a determination, management considers all
positive and negative evidence, including future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences,
projected future taxable income, tax planning strategies, and results of recent operations. If
management determines that the Company would be able to realize deferred tax assets in the future in
excess of their net recorded amount, the Company would make an adjustment to the deferred tax asset
valuation allowance, which would reduce the provision for income taxes.
On December 22, 2017, the U.S. enacted the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Act”), which makes broad and
complex changes to U.S. tax law. The Act lowered the Company’s U.S. statutory federal income tax rate
from 35% to 21% effective January 1, 2018.
The Company recorded a current net federal income tax benefit of $684,566 for the year ended
December 31, 2017. Additionally, the Company has an amount of income tax net operating loss
carryforward that can be applied to future periods, resulting in a deferred tax asset of $199,468 as of
December 31, 2017. The deferred tax asset on the consolidated statement of assets and liabilities has
been adjusted to reflect the 21% tax rate applicable beginning January 1, 2018 in accordance with the
Act. As of December 31, 2017, the Company has an income tax net operating loss carryforward of
$949,878, which can be applied to future years through December 31, 2037.
The Company records interest accrued and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax
expense in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations. Accrued interest and penalties are
included on the related tax asset or liability line in the consolidated statement of assets and liabilities. As
of December 31, 2017, the Company had not accrued any interest or penalties related to unrecognized
tax benefits.
The Company recognizes the tax benefits of uncertain tax positions only when the position is more likely
than not to be sustained, assuming examination by tax authorities. Management has analyzed the
Company’s tax positions and concluded that no liability for unrecognized tax benefits should be
recorded related to uncertain tax positions expected to be taken on the tax returns for the years open to
examination, 2016 and 2017. The Company identifies its major tax jurisdictions as U.S. federal and
California; however, the Company is not aware of any tax positions for which it is reasonably possible
that the total amounts of unrecognized tax benefits will change materially in the next twelve months.
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8. Commitments, Contingencies and Indemnifications
In the normal course of business, the Company enters into contracts with third parties, including
without limitation certain service providers and Counterparties, which incorporate a variety of
representations, warranties, and general indemnification obligations Any exposure to the Company
under these arrangements is unknown as it would involve future claims that may be made against the
Company; however, based on the Company’s historical experience, the risk of loss is remote. As such,
the Company has not accrued any liability in connection with such contingent obligations.
9. Financial Highlights
Below is the schedule of financial highlights of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2017.
Financial highlights are calculated for each permanent, non‐managing class of shares. An individual
shareholder’s financial highlights may vary based on different financial arrangements such as
management fees, performance fees and the timing of capital transactions.
Per Share Data:
Net asset value, beginning of the year
Income from investment operations:
Net investment income (loss)
Net realized and unrealized gains (losses) on investments
Net decrease in net assets resulting from operations
Distributions
Reverse stock split
Total increase (decrease) in net assets
Net asset value, end of the year
Total return
Shares outstanding, end of the year
Ratio to average net assets:
Net investment Income (1)
Operating expense (1)
Performance fee
Total expenses
(1)

Class D

Class O

$ 10.00

$ 10.00

0.67
(0.79)
(0.12)
(0.01)
0.13
─
$ 10.00

0.61
(0.71)
(0.10)
(0.00)
0.10
─
$ 10.00

(1.39%)
24,397,405.70

(1.37%)
7,363,935.63

6.69%

6.11%

40.05%
8.42%
48.47%

35.55%
8.28%
43.83%

During the year, the Advisor voluntarily waived a portion of its management fee (equal to 0.27% of average net
assets for Class D shares, 0.18% for Class O shares).
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9. Financial Highlights (continued)
The total return calculated above reflects all income and expenses of the Company, including interest
expense on debt balances due to the Feeder Funds. Additionally, the basis for total return for the
Company is the net assets of the Company, which is comprised of all assets and liabilities of the
Company, including debt balances due to the Feeder Funds. Accordingly, the total return and net
investment income and expense ratios as reflected on the Feeder Funds’ respective financial statements
are more indicative of investors’ returns and operating ratios. Refer to the financial statements of the
Feeder Funds for further information.
10. Subsequent Events
Management has evaluated subsequent events through April 27, 2018, the date the consolidated
financial statements were available to be issued. Management has determined that there are no other
material events that would require adjustment to or disclosure in the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.
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